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Performance Overview
Welcome
I am pleased to present our annual report and accounts for 2018/19. In this report,
we describe how we have fulfilled our duties as laid down in the National Health
Service Act 2006 and the work we are doing to improve the health and care of
people who live in Lewisham.
Lewisham CCG was served with legal directions by NHS England in September
2017 in respect of long-standing performance problems with local urgent and
emergency care services. These directions were lifted by NHS England in March
2019 following significant improvements made to the urgent and emergency care
recovery plan and subsequent improvement plan, while acknowledging the
continuing challenges around urgent and emergency care and meeting the national
emergency care 4-hour waiting time standard. There have also been substantial
changes to the leadership arrangements across south east London CCGs, as well as
to the south east London arrangements for acute commissioning and contracting
through the Integrated Contracting and Delivery Team (hosted by Southwark CCG).
Throughout the year we have tracked our performance against the NHS
Constitutional Standards and the areas covered in the national Improvement and
Assessment Framework (IAF) for CCGs and where necessary put in place actions
for improvement. The IAF ratings for clinical areas have shown that our diabetes
care and maternity are outstanding, while mental health has been rated as good.
We are working with partners across south east London to meet the required
improvements in the standards for cancer and for learning disabilities.
Development of our partnership arrangements in Lewisham as well as across south
east London has continued, and will be advanced further during 2019/20 to meet the
requirements of the ‘Long Term Plan for the NHS’ that was published in January.
We have met all of our statutory financial duties, as well as delivering an in year surplus
of £331k compared to a planned surplus of £300k, so a better than planned
performance. We have also ensured compliance with prompt invoice payment
requirements against the Better Practice Payments Code (BPPC).
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I would like to thank our member practices and all of Lewisham’s NHS and care staff,
for the work they do to treat, care for and support local people. I continue to value
comments from local people to help shape and improve local services as we take
steps to ensure that services are proactive and preventative, accessible and coordinated. We will continue to strive to engage with and meet the needs of Lewisham’s
diverse population and communities.

This Performance Overview and the sections of the Annual Report and Accounts that
follow provide more details on all of these areas and on the effective governance of
NHS Lewisham CCG.

We have in place robust governance and management

structures, and the plans to meet the challenges for the future.
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1. Introduction
NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a membership organisation
made up of all the GP practices in Lewisham. Our aim is to secure the best possible
health and care services for everybody in Lewisham, to reduce health inequalities
and improve health outcomes in a cost effective way that provides good value for
money.
We use what we know about the health needs of our residents to plan how and
where to provide care which we commission from hospitals, community services,
GPs and other providers of care. This information comes from insight and feedback
from our public engagement activities, from our colleagues in the Lewisham Public
Health team and from national sources such as Public Health England and the
Health and Care Information Centre and is summarised in Lewisham’s Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment. You can find out more about the Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment at http://www.lewishamjsna.org.uk/
We plan, buy and monitor most of the health services our residents use including:
•

Community health services (such as district nursing)

•

General practice

•

Hospital care

•

Rehabilitation services (such as physiotherapy)

•

Urgent and emergency care

•

Mental health care (both hospital and community-based services)

•

Services to support the most dependent people in the community.

We aim to improve care by:
•

Ensuring services in Lewisham are of a high quality, safe and easily
accessible, and appropriate for the range of diverse communities living in
Lewisham

•

Working closely with our local community to plan and improve services

•

Having a good working relationship with the staff and organisations who
deliver care and other organisations responsible for local services.
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•

Making the most effective use of the money we have been allocated to
commission services.

Other health services such as pharmacies, opticians, dentists and some specialist
health services are commissioned by NHS England. Visit www.england.nhs.uk for
more information.
Decisions about what we do are made by our Governing Body, which is accountable
to our member practices and which meets in public on a regular basis. You can find
out who is on our Governing Body and the dates of forthcoming meetings on our
website

2. Health in Lewisham
Demographics
Lewisham is part of London, the largest, most culturally diverse city in Europe.
Lewisham covers an area of 13.4 square miles stretching from the Thames at its most
northerly point to Bromley in the south of London. Lewisham has a growing population,
projected to increase from 301,300 in 2018 to 318,000 by 2021, and is the 15th most
ethnically diverse local authority in England, 46% of the population are from black,
Asian and ethnic minority groups and around 25% between the ages of 0 to 19. Around
28,800 residents are above 65 years of age and approximately 3,800 are aged over
85 years. This latter group often has the most complex health needs and therefore
bears a very high proportion of care costs.
The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 ranks Lewisham 48th of 326 districts in
England and 10th out of 33 London boroughs. There are important differences within
the borough, people living in the most deprived areas have poorer health outcomes
and lower life expectancy compared to the England average: there is a difference in
life expectancy for men of up to five years between different areas of Lewisham while
for women the life expectancy gap can be even bigger at 8.5 years.

Lewisham has over 800 active voluntary and community sector organisations and
more than 200 individual faith groups. All these groups and many others help to
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strengthen our communities by galvanising our citizens, addressing local concerns
and advocating on behalf of some of the most vulnerable in society.

There have been some improvements in people’s health and care over the last 25
years. More people in contact with mental health services in Lewisham are living
independently, with or without support, in comparison to the national average. Life
expectancy has also been increasing, as the graph (graph 1) below shows for men
and women in England and in Lewisham. People in Lewisham are living longer
because of the success in managing particular conditions such as stroke, heart
disease and respiratory disease.
Graph 1
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Local Challenges
Every year demand on our services continues to grow while the money allocated to us
increases more slowly than demand. We describe in more detail the challenges we
are facing in our section below on the NHS Constitutional Standards, particularly for
Cancer and Accident and Emergency (A&E) national targets. Our population is not
achieving the health and care outcomes it should, as demonstrated below:
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• While life expectancy has generally been improving, for men at 79.0 years life
expectancy at birth remains slightly lower than the England average which is
79.6 years (see Graph 1)

• Many of these deaths are avoidable, around two thirds of deaths are among the
under 75s. These deaths could be avoided by tackling the wider social
determinants of health (what is termed preventable mortality) through public
health interventions such as getting people to take more exercise or to stop
smoking, or through health care interventions such as early diagnosis of
diseases or conditions and through effective treatment (amenable mortality)
(from ‘Living Well for Longer: a call to action to reduce avoidable premature mortality’,
Department of Health 2013)

•

Cancer is now the main cause of death (27%), followed by circulatory disease
(25%) and respiratory disease (17%) in Lewisham

•

Screening for bowel, breast and cervical cancer is significantly lower than the
average for England

Demand for care is increasing, both in numbers and complexity:
•

14% of people in Lewisham identify themselves as having limitations in carrying
out day-to-day activities. That is equivalent to around 38,000 people

•

Lewisham’s over 60s population is projected to rise to 42,300 in 2021 which will
increase demand for the health and care services

More

information

is

available

about

Lewisham’s

population

at

www.lewishamjsna.org.uk

3. Performance Overview
Our aim is to meet the health needs of the people living in Lewisham in the best
possible way with the money available, while addressing significant challenges of the
population. Our performance is discussed in more detail in the next section.

The NHS Constitutional standards provide performance measures over a range of key
areas. Some of the improvements we have achieved include ambulance response
times, referral times for wheelchairs for children and young people, indicators for
improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT), early intervention in psychosis,
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dementia diagnosis, routine referrals for eating disorders under mental health for
children, and electronic referral rates.

Against the NHS England Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) we have
been assessed for the following Clinical Priorities:
•

Diabetes

Outstanding

•

Mental Health

Good

•

Maternity

Outstanding

•

Cancer

Requires Improvement

•

Learning Disabilities

Requires Improvement.

Improvements to cancer performance have been a focus of work across south east
London, with identification and implementation of ‘high impact actions’ covering
shortening waiting times, access to diagnostics, management of tracking lists, and
oncology capacity.

Improvements for learning disabilities are being undertaken through the South East
London Transforming Care Partnership (TCP). The partnership has achieved a high
number of discharges from residential care, however, continued admissions impact
net change.
All CCG Improvement and Assurance Framework indicators can be found at My NHS
on NHS Choices. The following link takes you directly to the My NHS page for NHS
Lewisham CCG here

Our priorities for 2018/19 focused on planned care and urgent and emergency care,
areas that can help to ensure people are receiving the right care, in the right place at
the right time and help to reduce demand on hospital-based services. We have been
putting in place arrangements to treat more conditions in the community and to reduce
the length of hospital stays, as for older people in particular we know that longer stays
can lead to worse health outcomes and can increase the need for long-term care. The
Performance Analysis section that follows describes in more detail some of our
successful initiatives and quality improvements in these areas, such as the Care at
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Home Service, primary care access for rough sleepers, a community asthma service,
and primary care dressings.

4. Financial Targets & Performance
Sound financial management and robust management of financial risks have ensured
that we have achieved all of our statutory financial duties for 2018/19, as planned. In
accordance with NHS England planning guidance, we are required to deliver a
cumulative surplus of at least 1% of available resources. CCGs must contain net
expenditure within resource allocation limits set by NHS England for the year. There
are separate resource allocation limits for capital and revenue expenditure, with
revenue expenditure limits further split between programme spend and running costs.

The CCG is required to comply with the statutory duties set out under a direction
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England) under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). Also, the CCG is required to prepare Annual Accounts
in accordance with the Government Financial Reporting Manual taking account of the
application guidance contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual.

Our annual accounts for 2018/19 have been prepared on a going concern basis. Public
sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents. Even if a clinical commissioning
group ceases to exist, it is necessary to consider whether or not its services will
continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in
determining whether to use the concept of going concern. If services will continue to
be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

The CCG has been notified of its resource allocation for 2019/20 and has agreed
contracts in place with its main providers. During the year the Governing Body has
considered and approved a number of documents that assume that services will be
provided on an on-going basis.
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5. Collaborative Working
We have been working with our local partners in Lewisham’s Health and Care Partners
(LHCP) to plan and deliver care in a more accessible, co-ordinated and sustainable
way. The partners are Lewisham CCG, London Borough of Lewisham, Lewisham &
Greenwich NHS Trust, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM),
and One Health Lewisham (GP Federation).
The LHCP is committed to develop and deliver community based care which is:
•

Population based

•

Expands and strengthens primary and community care

•

Promotes health and wellbeing

•

Provides a co-ordinated response to the specific needs of the individual

•

Works in partnership with patients, service users, carers and wider
communities

•

Takes a whole system approach

•

Evidence based and outcome focused

The partnership work to take forward the strategic commissioning work has included
developing

an

outcomes

framework,

joint

governance

arrangements,

a

commissioners’ workforce strategy, joint plans for public engagement and
commissioning intentions for ‘frailty’ and transition between children’s and adults’
services. These will be areas that are further developed during 2019/20.

We also work in partnership with the five other CCGs in the South East London
Commissioning Alliance. We are also part of the Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP) for south east London, Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL).
OHSEL is made up of the six CCGs and NHS provider organisations as well local
authorities. The next section of the report covers further detail on the OHSEL
programme and its priorities, as well as highlights covering public engagement, the
elective orthopaedic network, maternity voices, and the red bag initiative in the
community based care programme.
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We have also continued to work within the Healthy London Partnership (HLP), along
with all London CCGs, NHS England, London councils, the Greater London Authority,
the Mayor of London, Public Health England, and Health Education England.
Initiatives have included social prescribing, Thrive LDN, the ‘Great Weight Debate’,
and ‘Ask About Asthma’. Again, more detail on this work can be found in the next
section.
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Glossary
A&E
BAF
BCF
BME
BAME
BPPC
CAMHS
CBC
CCG
CCNT
COPD
CQC
CQUINS
CQRG
CSU
DNA
D2A
ED
EDS
EIA
EIP
ENT
EPRR
FCEA
H@H
HIU
HIV
HLP
HRG
IAF
IAPT
IGC
JCG
JHOSC
JSNA
KPI
LGT
LHCP
LIMOS
LSMS
MESCH
NCT
NELCSU
NHSE
NCN
NICE

Accident and Emergency
Board Assurance Framework
Better Care Fund
Black and Minority Ethnic
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic
Better Practice Payments Code
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
Community Based Care
Clinical Commissioning Group
Community Childrens Nursing Team
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
Care Quality Commission
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation Schemes
Clinical Quality Review Group
Commissioning Support Unit
Did Not Attend
Discharge to Assess
Emergency Department
Equality Delivery System
Equality Impact Assessment
Early Intervention in Psychosis
Ear, Nose and Throat
Emergency Preparedness Resilience and Response
Financial Control Environment Assessment
Hospital at Home
High Intensity Users
Human Immunodeficiency Virus
Healthy London Partnership
Health Resource Group
Improvement and Assessment Framework
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (Programme)
Integrated Governance Committee
Joint Commissioning Group
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Key Performance Indicator
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust
Lewisham Health & Care Partners
Lewisham Integrated Medicines Optimisation Service
Local Security Management Specialist
Maternal Early Childhood Sustained Home Visiting
Neighbourhood Community Teams
North East London Commissioning Support Unit
NHS England
Neighbourhood Care Networks
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
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NPSA
OHSEL
PEEF
PHSO
PI
PMS
PPG
PRG
PSED
QA
QIPP
RSS
SAIL
SCAIT
SDMP
SELDOC
SIRO
SLaM
SNNT
STP
UCC
UHL
VSM
VTS
WRES
WTE
YTD

National Patient Safety Agency
Our Healthier SE London
Public Engagement and Equalities Forum
Public Health Service Ombudsman
Performance Indicator
Personal Medical Services
Patient Participation Group
Public Reference Group
Public Sector Equality Duty
Quality Assurance
Quality Innovation Productivity and Prevention
Referral Support Service
Safe and Independent Living
Social Care Advice & Information team
Sustainable Development Management Plan
South East London Doctors on Call
Senior Information Responsible Officer
South London and Maudsley Mental Health Foundation Trust
Special Needs Nursing Team
Sustainability and Transformation Plan/Partnership
Urgent Care Centre
University Hospital Lewisham
Very Senior Managers
Vocational Training Scheme
NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard
Whole time equivalent
Year to Date
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Performance analysis
1. Introduction
This section describes how we measure our performance and fulfil our duties to
improve the quality of services that we commission.
The CCG’s corporate objectives agreed by our Governing Body set out the key
priority areas and actions which the CCG would undertake during 2018/19 to deliver
the CCG’s Operating Plan, together with locally agreed priorities to take forward the
integration of health and social care. These objectives follow through the themes
from 2016/17 and 2017/18.
The corporate objectives for 2018/19 focused on the following key areas:
•

Planned Care

•

Urgent and Emergency Care

•

CCG development

•

Financial delivery 2018/19 and financial planning 2019/20

2. Planned Care
Referral Optimisation
‘Referral optimisation’ is concerned with ensuring that referrals for patients from GPs
to secondary care services such as hospitals are made to the most convenient and
appropriate service. Through our participation in the South East London Planned
Care Board (PCBs), we have been improving the advice and guidance services from
specialists consultants to GPs, and on reviewing specialty specific care pathways to
GPs. The PCBs reviewed referral processes and have conducted audits across a
number of specialties including dermatology, Ear Nose and Throat (ENT) and
paediatric musculoskeletal (MSK); each audit showed that approximately 25% of
referrals did not require secondary care level treatment and could have either been
managed in primary care with advice, guidance and support or seen in a community
based service. There was significant variation in the quality of referrals from GPs.
Consequently, we have been working with Bexley and Greenwich CCGs to consider
opportunities to improve the referral management processes. We are aiming to
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ensure that patients are seen in the right place, by the right clinician, first time in
order to minimise patients bouncing around our system and deliver more single
episodes of care around non admitted services. We maximise opportunities to
ensure that GPs receive advice, guidance and management plans from secondary
care when it is felt that a patient does not require secondary care level treatment.
Where community services are available, we maximise their use where appropriate.
We recognise and value the impact that clinical triage can make on ensuring that
patients are booked into the most appropriate clinic and that we make the most of
our collective resources to be as efficient and effective as possible and that patient
choice and experience is improved wherever possible.
Cancer Plan
The Cancer Improvement Plan for Lewisham focused on 4 key areas for 2018/19;
1. Improving early diagnosis by increasing uptake of all screening
programmes, Lewisham does not reach the national coverage targets for
the cancer screening programmes;
2. Improve early diagnosis of Bowel and Lung cancer, which accounts for
the largest number of cancer related deaths in Lewisham cancers
3. Reduce inequalities;
4. Improve living with and beyond cancer.
(i) Prevention and early diagnosis: In Lewisham we have worked hard with primary
and secondary care, Public Health colleagues, third party support agencies and
patients to improve both patient experience and outcomes, which in turn will
hopefully have a positive impact on our mortality rates. We have developed a
communications plan to support Public Health in their cancer awareness campaigns
through social media and other channels. We have also attended various events
across the borough which includes Downham Celebrates, Lewisham People’s Day,
Lung Cancer presentation at Lewisham Library and we continue to work very closely
with both Cancer Research Campaign and MacMillan Cancer Support charities,
which includes public engagement and provider training.
(ii) Improving Screening: Within our local Personal Medical Services (PMS) Premium
(one of our contract arrangements for GP practices) is support to primary care to
improve both bowel and cervical screening take up rates. These programmes are
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actively encouraging patients to undertake screening and adopt a pro-active
approach by GP practices to patients who do not respond to screening reminders,
for instance all of our practices engaged with the national Cervical screening text
messages programme. The result is that uptake for both bowel and cervical
screening has improved. Lewisham was also one of the first CCGs in the UK to pilot
the learning disability bowel screening programme.
(iii) Reducing inequalities: We continue to work closely with secondary care
colleagues, specifically around improving the ‘do not attend’ rates for the 2 week wait
cancer pathway and also reviewing certain specialty pathways including lung and
straight to test for colorectal patients. We have also successfully secured some
additional funding for some transformational work streams; these include a Prostate
Data Collection Project where we will be collecting data on patients registered with
Lewisham GPs with a diagnosis of prostate cancer, suspected prostate cancer, or a
raised PSA level (the measure of the prostate-specific antigen (PSA) in your blood
and a high level may be a sign of prostate cancer).
(iv) Living with and beyond cancer: We commissioned our GP Federation, One
Health Lewisham Ltd to deliver the MacMillan Cancer Support Toolkit. The Toolkit
helps to improve the quality of care that people with cancer receive at GP practices
and supports learning with other practices and community teams. It can be used by
practitioners working towards annual appraisal/revalidation. All Lewisham GP
practices participated in this programme of work.

3. Urgent & Emergency Care
The Urgent and Emergency care objective was to commission services which align
the adult and children's physical and mental health services and addresses urgent
care as early as possible ‘upstream’ – ‘right care, right time, right place’.
During 2018/19 we have been working in partnership with Bexley and Greenwich
CCGs with LGT across both their hospital sites at University Hospital Lewisham
(UHL) and Queen Elizabeth Hospital (QEH) on urgent and emergency care.
Urgent Care Centre
We have developed closer integration between the Urgent Care Centre at UHL with
the co-located GP Extended Access Service.
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Discharge to Assess
We have put particular focus on improving the effectiveness and quality of hospital
discharges. This is because too many of our patients spend additional days in a
hospital bed and face avoidable delays in returning home with the support they need.
For older people in particular, we know that longer stays in hospital can lead to
worse health outcomes and can increase their long-term care needs. Therefore,
wherever possible, people should be supported to return to their home for
assessment.
Discharge to Assess (D2A) is a mandate from NHS England supported by the
Directors of Adult Social Services. The D2A model works on the principle of making
sure that hospital stays are reduced because patients are discharged as soon as
acute medical treatment is complete. For some patients this means ensuring that
rehabilitation and support services (also known as enablement) are in place to
facilitate safe discharge for people returning to their own homes.
We have been effective in working with LGT and Adult Social Care to facilitate a joint
approach to managing discharge. Notably, over the course of the year the number
of daily complex discharges has significantly increased and there has been a
reduction in the level of excess bed days.
As part of our Winter Programme we commissioned a Patient Flow Centre at
University Hospital Lewisham. The Centre has been instrumental in the delivery of
the 10% reduction in excess bed day target set for 2018/19. The Centre has;
•

Reduced the numbers of patients with delayed discharges;

•

Review of discharge data for December 2018 to March 2019 showed that
there were fewer patients remaining in the hospital beyond 7 days when
compared to the same period last year.

With LGT, we are undertaking a full evaluation of the Patient Flow Centre to inform
longer term commissioning intentions.

19

Case study: Discharge to Assess (D2A)
When Patient A (a gentleman in his 80’s with mild dementia)
suddenly lost his wife (who was his main carer, managed all his
finances, meals, shopping and other activities), it was identified
that a plan was needed to support him. He was referred to
Enablement Services in the community, to progress his mobility
and independent living skills; such as shopping and preparation of
simple meals. To support his longer term independence, they also
arranged online shopping and frozen-ready meal delivery services
for him.
Patient A was discharged into the care of the neighbourhood and
the GP. Upon discharge, Patient A was able to independently
carry out most tasks necessary for daily living. He was referred to
a befriending service and a money management service with his
consent together with two care calls per day (AM and PM).
“This case highlights the benefit of having a holistic
approach to assessments and provision of services and
the merits of a disciplinary team.”

Kemi,Patient Flow Centre Manager, Lewisham & Greenwich Trust.
Care Homes
In 2018 we started developing a programme of support, training and education to
care homes providing care to some of our most vulnerable residents. To improve
information sharing the CCG launched its first joint newsletter with Lewisham Council
to Care Homes for winter in December 2018.
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The CCG also developed a winter handbook for care homes, which contained
information on falls prevention, urine infections and Chronic Obstructive
Pulmonary Disease (COPD) management.
High Intensity Users
The Lewisham High Intensity User (HIU) Service is commissioned from the
local GP Federation (One Health Lewisham Ltd) and commenced in 2018. The
service identified a cohort of 100 patients who frequently attended the A&E
Department at UHL. The service has successfully reduced the need for urgent
and emergency care by providing a co-ordinated approach around the
individual and ensuring that those patients receive the right care by the right
service. As a result, this service reduced A&E attendances for those patients in
the cohort by 32% when compared with the previous year, and Emergency
Admissions also reduced by 37% when compared with the previous year. This
dedicated service provides the following for the patients;
(a) GP Clinical Lead – Provides clinical oversight and leads the service. The
GP works closely with the nurse to decide the most appropriate support
for patients and reviews patient notes to agree the best medical
intervention for patients.
(b) HIU Nurse – The Nurse is currently working 3 days a week to offer
support to patients. Support is currently being provided in the way of

21

reviewing medical notes, progressing care where possible (e.g. referrals)
and telephone support
(c) Health Coach – One Health Lewisham Ltd commissioned Community
Connections to provide health coaching support to the patients.
Community Connections were commissioned due to their expertise in the
voluntary sector, community services and experience of housing advice
services.
(d) You First – ‘You First’ is the partnership delivering the Fulfilling Lives
programme in Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Councils funded by
the National Lottery. The programme has a highly experienced team of
key workers who work with commissioners and service providers to
identify those in need in Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham. The
programme provides personalised support to adults with multiple and
complex needs to help them start living more stable lives and support
their journey to independence. The team has access to individual
budgets, which enables them to quickly raise and deliver co-ordinated
packages of support. Patients from the cohort have been jointly identified
with the You First team who can be supported via a joint bi-weekly
multidisciplinary team (MDT) meeting who can also be supported by You
First.
For more information on the High Intensity User Service click on the video
below:

Mental Health Crisis Support: The Harbour Café
The Harbour Café is a non-clinical, safe space intended to provide a supportive
environment for people in a mental health crisis as an alternative to using other crisis
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services. Despite its location on the grounds of UHL, the ‘low-level’ staffing approach
avoids the perception of it being a hospital or an extension of it. The aim is to offer
people who are feeling distressed, someone that they can talk to in a relaxed
environment.
Patients have easy access to the café seven days a week, staying open from 2pm
and all night until 6am.
The Harbour Café was opened in January 2019 by Dr Alex George, emergency
department doctor at UHL. Delivered by mental health charity Certitude, in
partnership with University Hospital Lewisham (UHL) and South London and
Maudsley (SLaM), and commissioned jointly by the CCG and Lewisham Council, it is
a good example of health and care services working together.
The Harbour is staffed by nurses, occupational therapists, a clinical specialist from
SLaM and peer support workers (including those who have experienced mental
health problems themselves) so it ensures that those referred to the service, receive
the right help at the right time.
Referrals are from Lewisham A&E (psychiatric liaison) and Community Mental
Health Teams (CMHT) who provide patients with emotional support on a one-to-one
basis, therapeutic activities and after- care group support for up to three weeks.
From January – March 2019, The Harbour received a total of 183 referrals, with 112
people receiving their support. Some of the most frequent reasons for visiting the
service include: suicidal thoughts, low mood, anxiety, bereavement and isolation.
Other reasons include those seeking help with benefits, housing and vocation, so
interventions also include liaising with the Department for Work and Pensions,
housing providers and care co-ordinators.
Feedback has been positive, with 49.2% of 71 survey responders, strongly agreeing
with the statement that “Staff listened to me and treated my concerns seriously”. In
addition, 40.8 % of these responders also agreed that “The Harbour stopped me
from wanting to go to A&E”.
“I am feeling the benefit of coming to the Harbour. When I came to the café, I had
been to Lewisham A&E where I had arrived with low mood…When I arrived, the
atmosphere was welcoming.”
N, Harbour Café service user
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Rough Sleepers Pilot
Following a review of the NHS walk-in centre, New Cross, an alternative GP
extended hours service was developed to improve access to primary care. After an
Equalities Impact Assessment of the new service revealed potential barriers to
access, we set out a commitment to provide enhanced services for the homeless –
specifically for those termed as rough sleepers/sofa surfers in Deptford and New
Cross. Following a joint CCG and Lewisham Council Homeless Summit on 18th
October 2017 and continued engagement with the local community, the CCG
organised a second workshop on the 6th December 2017. Concern for the rough
sleepers accessing core and urgent primary care services in New Cross was raised
by the local MP and Ward Councillors.
We commissioned a pilot GP led Drop-in service for adult rough sleepers in Deptford
and New Cross, which commenced on Wednesday 25th April 2018 and is delivered
by the Amersham Vale Training Practice.
The service is located at 2 sites delivering a total of 6 hours GP clinical time per
week across the 2 drop-in clinics;
•

Outreach Drop-in Clinic located at 999 Club in Deptford, Wednesdays 09:00 –
12:00

•

Drop-in Clinic located at Amersham Vale Training Practice, Waldron Health
Centre, Fridays 9:30 – 12:30

Monthly multidisciplinary team
meetings are held to discuss patient
cases to ensure that patients are
effectively supported, referred,
signposted and receive good quality
co-ordinated care.
The development of this service
provides an example of co-production.
Regular workshops were held on
developing the priorities for the pilot service with potential service users, local GPs,
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homeless charities, faith groups, the Healthy London Partnership, Lewisham Council
and wider stakeholders.
The Healthy London Partnership have recognised the approach that the CCG has
taken in co-producing the service and has published the pilot service as an exemplar
on its website: https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/in-focus-lewisham-rough-sleepers-pilot/
Tim Fallon, CEO, 999 Club said the following about the service;
“Having a dedicated, specialist service for people rough sleeping in Deptford is
invaluable. We know all too well the specific healthcare needs of this client-group
and the presence of an easily-accessible, reliable service goes some way to
addressing the health inequalities they face.”
End of Life Care
Over the last four years in Lewisham the End of Life Transformation Programme has
been working to develop the offering of specialist services to people with a palliative
care need in the last year of life.
Following a successful bid during the competitive tender process in 2018, St
Christopher’s Hospice fully launched the newly commissioned Lewisham Community
Specialist Palliative Care Service in July 2018. Now the sole provider of community
palliative care in the borough, the service has seen an increase in the number of
referrals and home visits offered to patients. We continue to be part of the five
borough Consortium commissioning inpatient and outpatient services from the
Hospice, which have been highly rated in patients, families and carer surveys. St
Christopher’s is also commissioned to provide training to residential and nursing
Care Home staff, which they are now doing via the innovative digital system known
as “ECHO”. Care home staff and management have been enthusiastic about the
new programme and participation has been high.
We launched the ‘Red Bag’ scheme in May 2018 together with Bexley and
Greenwich CCGs and with participation from LGT. When a resident becomes unwell
and is assessed as needing hospital care, care home staff pack a dedicated red bag
that includes the resident’s standardised paperwork and their medication, as well as
day-of-discharge clothes and other personal items. The Red Bag pathway is being
used in both residential and nursing homes for older people and data from schemes
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across London have shown that the use of the bags and accompanying information
increase communication between hospitals and care home staff and reduce lengths
of stay.
In early 2019, again working with Bexley and Greenwich CCGs, we launched the
Coordinate My Care (CMC) Quick Start Guide. CMC is a key tool that helps patients
express their wishes around the place they wish to be cared for in the last year of
life, and they can include their personal wishes and requests, along with their
clinicians’ instructions including things like anticipatory prescribing and information
including diagnoses, medication lists and symptom control. The Quick Start Guide
was produced in collaboration with the CMC team and which contained all the
necessary information and forms for any GP practice to sign up to the system and
arrange free training. The CMC record is the only on-line emergency care plan which
is available to operators from 999, 111 and the London Ambulance service and can
also be seen by a range of professionals including GP practices, hospices, acute
hospitals, community providers, District Nurses, and some allied health
professionals. Overall 76% of patients in Lewisham with a CMC record have died in
their preferred place. Where patients have a CMC record, only 18% die in hospital.
However, nationally, 47% die in hospital.
As part of the CMC Quick Start package, GPs across Bexley, Greenwich and
Lewisham were offered the opportunity to attend one of their half day “Difficult
Conversations” training events. The training was highly rated and the GPs who
attended said they felt more confident in discussing end of life care with patients
following the course.
We are continuing to develop End of Life services and we have seen a decrease in
the percentage of patients dying in hospital over the 12 month period from 1st
January 2018 through 31st December 2018 from 55% to 53%, with more patients
than ever being supported to die in their usual place of residence, whether that be in
their own home or in a Care Home. We believe this success can be attributed to the
new single Specialist Palliative Care service, the increase in use of CMC records,
training to care home staff and the effort of all professionals.
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Paediatric Community Asthma Service
In the first 6 months of going live in April 2018, the Paediatric Community Asthma
Team has accepted in total 173 referrals in to the service, mostly from UHL A&E
department. September was the busiest month for accepting referrals with all 57
referrals being accepted, though the team did not take cases of brittle asthma
whose condition could quickly deteriorate and some complex cases already under
the care of the hospital team. In addition 17 cases were seen by the service as
they presented with wheeze/exacerbation of asthma and needed 48 hour reviews.

Total initial assessments and reviews for the first 6 months are 151, with a further
150 patient telephone contacts as well as additional contacts with other health
professionals and general administration. On average there are 1.68 children or
young people not brought in to appointments per month which is a similar rate to
other community services across LGT.

“The asthma nurse was very helpful and informative. Great communication with my son
allowing him to understand and take some responsibility”

Patient C, Paediatric Community Asthma Service
SAIL Connections
Safe and Independent Living (SAIL) Connections is a social prescribing project
which aims to provide a quick and simple way to access a wide range of local
services to support older people in maintaining their independence, safety and
wellbeing. It is funded through the Better Care Fund in Lewisham and delivered in
close collaboration with Lewisham Council and ourselves.

In Lewisham around 28,800 residents are above 65 years of age and approximately
3,800 are aged over 85 years. Older people are known to be a group with a higher
proportion of vulnerable people, so there was a desire to create a way in which their
care could be streamlined, and taking away the confusion and barriers they face
trying to navigate the current care landscape.

The programme was initially introduced as a pilot that concluded in early 2018, and
an evaluation carried out by Age UK, and independently verified by the University of
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Birmingham showed that for every £1 invested the return had been £4.01. During
the pilot SAIL supported 926 older people in Lewisham.

The successful pilot phase has meant that during 2018/19 SAIL has become
established as a service. Southwark and Lewisham Age UK host the project in
partnership with a range of services across sectors:

Health & Wellbeing
•

Blenheim Drug and Alcohol Teams

•

BlindAid

•

Carers Lewisham

•

Community Connections

•

Lewisham Community Falls Team

•

Lewisham Primary Care Dietetics Service

•

Linkline

•

MindCare

•

Stop Smoking Service

Living Conditions
•

Advice Lewisham

•

Handyperson Service

•

Lewisham Council Occupational Therapy

•

Warm Homes Healthy People Project

Safety, Security & Income
•

Advice Lewisham

•

Crime, Enforcement and Regulation Service

•

London Fire Brigade

•

Police

Each of these services help support older people, working to maintain their
independence and prevent deterioration of health.
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SAIL also operates as a first contact tool, enabling self-referral, early intervention
and prevention through use of community-based services across multiple sectors.

The service is delivered through a simple checklist and referral form targeted at
people over 60. The service focusses on both the clinical and non-clinical needs of a
person in combination to maximise efficiency and improve outcomes in health and
social care services.

Watch the video below to find out more about how SAIL connections help people
over 60 in Lewisham:

Care at Home
Working with Lewisham Health and Care Partners (LHCP) we have developed the
Care at Home Provider Alliance. This involves health and care professionals who
support adults in their own homes working much more closely together to provide coordinated, person centred care. Care at Home aims to transform the experience for the
cared for person and the professional by reducing duplication and improving the
quality of care, making the best use of our resources and skills.
Work has initially focused on bringing together a number of Adult Social Care services
with District Nursing, building on the existing virtual teams to improve the delivery of
co-ordinated, person centred care for adults at a neighbourhood level. The teams are
based on the existing neighbourhood footprint (four neighbourhoods). A key element
of the initial phase is the development of greater collaborative working with home care
providers to the extent that they operate as part of the Care at Home teams.
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Care at Home: Case Study

Patient J is 82. He lives on his own and has a heart
condition and diabetes. He has become increasingly
frail, has lost weight and is struggling to manage his
personal care. John has become very socially isolated
since his wife died two years ago and is feeling
depressed. He has three children but they do not live in
London. The GP has made a referral to the Social Care
Advice & Information Team (SCAIT) for a social care
assessment and has asked the DN service to visit to
monitor blood sugar levels and administer insulin.
How will J’s care be co-ordinated in future?
• J will receive a single assessment by one person from the Care at Home team. He
would tell his story once. Other health and care professionals would trust the
assessment made.
• The approach to the assessment will identify what is important for
J. It will be holistic and person centred.
• A key worker will co-ordinate the care J needs (physical and mental health). The key
worker will draw on strong knowledge of and relationships with other professionals
(developed through sharing office space, regular collaborative working and joint
training) to organise the care and support that J needs and wants quickly. This may
include support from voluntary and community sector organisations.
• Care workers and district nurses will work closely together to support J. His blood
sugar levels and insulin administration may be delivered by specially trained carers
under the supervision and guidance of the district nurses. The carers will raise any
concerns about J’s condition with the district Nurses who will respond quickly to prevent
any deterioration in his health.
• Health and care professionals will work more collaboratively to make the best use of
resources and provide the right care at the right time.
• A single referral process for an integrated team will mean only one referral for the GP.
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4. Primary Care
Transforming Primary Care
During 2018/19, we have fully engaged with the National GP Forward View,
progressing all aspects of the programme. Highlights include:
•

The second year of operation of the GP Extended Access service, providing an
additional 29,914 GP and nurse appointments, 7 days a week, 8am – 8pm,
increasing access and choice for Lewisham patients;

•

The launch of the ASK NHS GP symptom checker App to support patients to
efficiently access the most appropriate care and as of March 2019 the APP has
been downloaded by over 6,000 Lewisham patients;

•

14 practices were funded through the GP resilience programme to support their
current and future long term sustainability and resilience;

During the year, 7 Lewisham practices were supported to fully digitise a combined
number of 60,402 patient paper records. This has freed up space in practices which can
now be used to provide clinical services to patients.
The CCG has continued to work with practices to support the transformation of primary
care particularly through collaborative working across and between practices as is
articulated in the Lewisham Primary Care Strategy. Practices have taken forward a
variety of models in this respect including formal mergers, common partnerships across
multiple practices and also the creation of a Lewisham division of the national Modality
super-partnership. As a result, 160,000 Lewisham patients are now under the
management of 5 partnerships/groups, each with populations of 20,000 or more.
One Health Lewisham Ltd, the borough-wide GP Federation, continues to both
coordinate quality improvement work across all Lewisham practices as well as directly
delivering services such as:
•

High Intensity User (HIU) service – this service comprises of a community-based
team who, working with other local services, proactively manage a dynamic list of
100 patients who are “high intensity users” of emergency services;

•

TB screening programme – this service involves the identification of otherwise
healthy people who are at an increased risk of developing TB so they can be
appropriately treated;

•

Enhanced Primary Care Support to Care Homes – this service provides has reduced
emergency admission from care homes in Lewisham, resulting in a 15% reduction in
avoidable emergency admissions from care homes in 2018/19 when compared with
2017/18.
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Primary Care Engagement: Primary Care Interpreting and Translation Service
We have carried out an extensive review and engagement on the Interpreting and
Translation service that is provided for primary care in Lambeth, Southwark and
Lewisham, and we will be concluding this and implementing any recommendations
during 2019/20.

5. CCG Development
The objective and supporting action plans for CCG development have focused on
the groundwork and preparation for further development of integrated care,
particularly at the borough level.
An interim Joint Commissioning Group (JCG) has been established to provide a coordinated approach to commissioning to deliver the strategy and priorities across
the local authority and the CCG, as set out in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy,
Children and Young People’s Plan, Lewisham’s Better Care Fund Plan, the CCG’s
Strategic Framework and the work of the South East London STP.
Workforce development has been identified as a priority area for the development of
an integrated care system in Lewisham. A programme of workshops for
commissioning staff from the CCG and council concluded in April 2018. The
workshops started the process of engaging staff in the development of integrated
health and social care in Lewisham, for instance in developing a vision and the
necessary competencies and capabilities.
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6. Quality Improvement
Care Quality Commission Inspections
The NHS is here for us all and we all rely on our health services to provide the very
best care when we are unwell, vulnerable and need them most. In Lewisham most
of the care provided to most of our people most of the time is of high quality; that is,
it is safe, effective and responsive to people’s individual needs. However there are
occasions when services slip below acceptable quality standards and one of the
roles of Lewisham CCG is to understand when and why this happens and to work
alongside our colleagues providing services to deliver the required quality
improvements. We do this work alongside the Care Quality Commission (CQC) who
in 2018/19 carried out major inspections at our main acute hospital provider,
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust and at our mental health services provider,
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM).
The CQC had lots of good things to say about many of the services provided in
Lewisham. For example mental health services at SLaM and the services at
Lewisham Hospital were rated as good overall in four of the five CQC quality
domains of safe, effective, caring, responsive and well led.
Mental health services that the CQC 2018 inspections indicate that we can be
especially proud of include:
•

Community based mental health services for older people

•

Specialist eating disorder services

•

Mental health crisis services and health based places of
safety

•

Forensic inpatient and secure mental health wards

•

Specialist neuropsychiatric services
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Lewisham hospital services that the CQC 2018 inspections indicate that we can be
especially proud of include:
•

Maternity services

•

Services for children and young people

However, it is fair to say that in places the inspection reports for mental health and
physical health made for difficult reading and the safety of services require
improvement in both areas. For example the CQC found that:
•

There were insufficient substantive staff in many of the services inspected to
meet the needs of patients on a daily basis and some wards had high levels
of staff vacancies, a high turnover of managers or interim managers. This had
an impact on the stability of teams, consistency of care provided and patient
experience.

•

There were problems with the management of medicines such as the secure
storage of controlled drugs and monitoring of fridge temperatures in some
services at Lewisham Hospital.

•

Lewisham Hospital did not have a comprehensive pathway for patients with
mental health problems

•

Patient records at Lewisham Hospital were not always fully completed and
kept secure.

•

The mental health Trust had not ensured that support was in place to enable
wards to make necessary improvements in the quality of care and treatment.

•

The mental health Trust had not ensured that all environmental risks relating
to ligature anchor points, blind spots and the use of plastic bin liners were
included in environmental risk assessments

•

The mental health Trust had not embedded plans to reduce patient restraint.

•

Staff at mental health Trust did not always carry out physical health checks
after administering intra-muscular medicines for rapid tranquilisation and staff
did not always provide adequate support to patients with specific physical
health needs.
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The full CQC inspection reports can be found on the CQC website here:
CQC report for LGT
CQC report for SLAM
The CCG is continuing to work closely with services to improve patient safety and
ensure that patients in Lewisham receive good quality services all of the time. We
ensure that action plans are in place and track progress against these plans.
Serious Incidents
Health services in Lewisham are determined to be open and transparent and learn
from occasions when things go wrong. Robust investigations of serious incidents
are carried out to try and understand why an incident has taken place and to identify
changes that need to be made to try to prevent it happening again. There were 69
serious incidents which had affected Lewisham residents reported to the CCG during
the year.
If a person who dies by suicide has been in receipt of mental health services in the
preceding six months the service is required to report the death as a serious incident
and to investigate the quality of care that it has provided. Our mental health provider
informed us of 22 incidents of suspected self inflicted harm, including possible
suicides. Most often the investigations find that the death could not have been
prevented by the services, however, these investigations sometimes identify where
care might have been better, for example in relation to risk assessments, care plans
and better co-ordination of care.
Elderly and frail people are at greater risk of falling than the rest of the population
and this is as true in hospital as at home. Hospitals therefore take measures to
assess patients’ risks of falling and to provide additional care where necessary.
However patients do sometimes have a fall in hospital and these falls sometimes
result in harm. Our local acute hospital informed us of 16 incidents of slips, trips and
falls resulting in harm over the year. These incidents are always investigated and
the CCG has been working with Lewisham Hospital to ensure that patients’ risks of
falls are appropriately assessed and where appropriate enhanced care is provided to
reduce the risks of falling. Patients at increased risk of falling stay in ward bays
where they can be continuously monitored and supported, bed rails are used where
appropriate and sometimes beds are lowered closer to the floor.
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Complaints
We received 42 complaints during the year. Learning from the complaints and
resultant quality improvement was widespread and varied, some examples are:
• In response to complaint about the Interpreting Service, the provider re-iterated
to its interpreter the importance to always act in an impartial and professional
manner and never to advise or express personal opinions.
• In response to a complaint regarding changes to prescriptions - the practice
manager of the GP surgery will be reiterating the CCG Policy to all its reception
staff and particularly to its new staff to ensure the issue doesn’t happen again.
• In response to a complaint about available services following to the closure of
the New Cross Walk-in Centre. We have increased the number of GP and
nurse appointments available at our GP Extended Access Service (Hub) and
have been running a similar campaign across the borough.
• In response to complaint about a reduction in Continuing Healthcare Package the case was referred to Continuing Healthcare Governance and Funding Panel
– the Panel considered the additional detailed information that had been
provided and were able to increase the support plan – this award was
backdated.
• In response to a complaint regarding accessing fertility funding for a patient and
her partner – criteria for fertility funding was clarified to the complainant,
reference was made to The South East London Treatment Access Policy
(SELTAP) to ensure that resources across all six Clinical commissioning groups
in South East London are used in a clear, consistent, equitable and effective
way.
• In response to a complaint regarding the stopping of commissioning referral
management centres, and the approach taken locally for patient referrals for
specialist care. In Lewisham a number of new referral support schemes have
been introduced:
 Easy access to specialist opinion.
 Practice education and training sessions
 Bespoke support to practices.
 Referral Support service.
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 Improved clinical guidelines.
Improving Quality Through Medicines Optimisation
Working with General Practices, during 2018/19 we focused on the following areas
to improve the quality and cost effectiveness of prescribing delivered via the
Medicines Optimisation Plan, also achieving an efficiency target of over £2m:
•

Respiratory prescribing

With medication management, looking at inhaler technique and ensuring optimal
disease control through optimising inhalers, and particularly supporting people with
asthma to reduce the number of exacerbations and prevent worsening of disease This has also generated significant financial savings.
•

Repeat prescribing

Repeat prescribing accounts for approximately three quarters of prescribing costs in
general practice and we identified a need to ensure processes in place were safe,
efficient and effective. To support this, a training event was held in December in
conjunction with Southwark CCG, for key members of staff involved in repeat
prescribing. At least one representative from each Lewisham practice attended and
the learning was subsequently shared with relevant practice members.
•

Self care

The Pharmacy First scheme enables Lewisham residents to access advice,
treatment and medicines for common ailments from their local pharmacy and for
those who do not normally pay prescription charges, medicines are supplied free of
charge. Numbers of consultations increased by over 40 percent in 2018/19 to
17,500. This may be due to earlier changes to prescribing of over the counter
medicines by GPs in response to a local consultation in 2017 and national guidance
issued by NHS England.
•

Primary care dressings project

Changes to primary care dressings have led to significant quality improvements in
wound care. In particular, the completion of a Lewisham primary care bespoke
wound care formulary and guide, and a change in order and supply through an
online centralised wound care dressings procurement service across 38 Lewisham
GP practices in September 2018 has resulted in:
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•

Rationalised choice of evidence based cost effective wound care dressings to
support better healing outcomes.

•

Standardised nursing clinical practice across Lewisham GP Practices.

•

Elimination of dressings waste associated with oversupply hence improved
budgetary control.

•

Reduced workload burden on GPs managing prescription requests for
dressings.

•

Quicker access to dressing supplies hence improved patient experience.

All Lewisham practice nurses received educational training from Accelerate
Community Interest Company (CIC) specialist nurses on the use of the newly
developed CCG formulary and guide. This ensured all nurses are working towards
standardisation of practice across the organisation by using a range of first line
dressing products on the basis of clinical need, cost effectiveness and best available
evidence.

GP practice dressing ordering and their supply method has changed from
prescribing for individual patients to procurement through an online centralised
ordering and supply system via the NHS supply chain. This enabled practices to hold
stocks of formulary dressings hence resulting in improved timely access to wound
dressings when needed.

Overall the move to an online centralised wound care procurement service has
enabled quicker access to dressings resulting in better overall patient care, reduction
in wasted GP and nurse time. It has also reduced financial burden as a result of
£100K savings realised in the first year of the launch of the Lewisham primary care
wound care formulary.
•

Travel Health

In Lewisham we also ceased the supply of anti-malarial medicines on prescription (in
line with national policy) and developed a travel directory including information on
self-care around travel health, vaccinations and other related services from
Lewisham pharmacies.
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7. CCG Improvement and Assurance Framework
We are held accountable for a set of indicators that cover ‘Better Health, Better Care,
Sustainability (includes Finance) and Leadership under the NHS England CCG
Improvement and Assurance Framework.
We are also scored against Clinical Priorities and the Clinical Priority Scores for
2017/18 (the latest available) are:
•

Diabetes

Outstanding

•

Mental Health

Good

•

Maternity

Outstanding

•

Cancer

Requires Improvement

•

Learning Disabilities

Requires Improvement.

On Diabetes Care Lewisham practices have supported people with diabetes to get
improved compliance with their blood sugar, cholesterol and blood pressure
(measured by the National Diabetes Audit). The CCG is in the upper quartile of all
CCGs on this measure and has improved by 6% since 2015/16, which is the third
best improvement across all CCGs.
Maternity services in Lewisham have improved care across many indicators and for
mothers at time of delivery who are still smoking, it has one of the lowest rates
across all CCGs, 4.91%, which places the CGG in one of best quartile of CCGs in
the country and is lower than half the English National Rate of 10.5%.
For Cancer Care the major reason for the Requires Improvement rating relates to
cancer patients waiting longer than 62 Days from GP referral to treatment beginning.
The CCG has been consistently in the bottom quartile of all CCGs on this measure,
and we have been working with other CCGs and hospital providers to bring about
improvements in this area.

For Learning Disabilities half the score relates to the number of people in inpatient
care. The score is the same for South East London’s Transforming Care
Partnership, so covers all CCGs. This has not improved from the previous year,
because, although people have been discharged, new patients have been admitted.
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All CCG Improvement and Assurance Framework indicators can be found at My NHS
on NHS Choices. The following link takes you directly to the My NHS page for NHS
Lewisham CCG here

8. Constitutional Standards and Requirements
NHS Lewisham CCG
Indicators

Standard 17-18

Emergency
Accident & Emergency 4 Hours (LGT)
London Ambulance Serivce C1 Mean Time (Mins)
London Ambulance Service C1 90th Centile Time (Mins)
NB New Ambulance Measures Commenced in November 17
Cancer Waiting Times
2 week waits

95%
7 mins
15 mins

YTD 18-19 Direction Change
Versus 17-18

89.0%

87.2%

7.18
11.49

6.38
10.57

▼
▼
▼

Worse by 1.8%
Better by 40 seconds
Better by 52 seconds

►
►

No real difference
Better by 0.5%

Worse by 2.1%
Worse by 162 patients

Worse by 0.5%

93%

94.5%

94.6%

GP referral to treatnent within 62 Days

85%

73.6%

74.1%

18 weeks Referral to Treatment
Incomplete treatments

92%

87.0%

84.9%

0

175

337

78.1%

85.5%

▼
▲
▲

99.0%

98.5%

▼

52 week waits
CYP 18 week Referral to Treatment for Wheelchairs
Diagnostics within 6 weeks

99%

Better by 7.4 %

NB Year to Date above is largely to February 2019 with Emergency Indicators being for the full year 2018-19.
Table Key
Indicator – A metric that measures the CCG’s achievement of the Constitutional Standards
or NHS England expectations, including plans set by the CCG for 2017/18.
YTD – Year to date for 2018/19
Standard – The Constitutional Standard, NHS England expectation or CCG Plan.
Direction – Performance on each metric compared to 2017-18. Green arrows show
improvement, red arrows are worse.
Change – The percentage or number that the CCG is better or worse compared to
2017/18. Only changes that are significant have been included.
CYP – children and young people

40

The hospital and ambulance service performance on Emergency and Planned Care
is set out above.
Across London and in Lewisham, ambulance services are reaching the patients with
the highest clinical need (Category C1) more quickly than in 2017/18. This improved
speed should have an impact on the outcomes for these patients.
For hospital care the main challenges remain:
•

patients referred urgently by a GP should begin treatment within 62 Days of
the referral. For Lewisham in 2018/19 this percentage is marginally better
than 2017/18, but is still 11% worse than the 85% standard.

•

The percentage of patients who left, were treated or admitted within 4 hours in
A&E and Urgent Care is 8% lower than the 95% standard and is nearly 2%
lower than last year at Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust.

•

Weeks: The percentage of Lewisham patients that have been referred for
treatment, but treatment has not begun (known as incomplete pathways or
people still on the waiting list) was 7% lower than the 92% standard within 18
weeks in 18-19. Further, the longest waiting patients (over 52 weeks)
increased significantly to over 330 patients in 2018/19.

Recovery plans for these in 19-20 are in the process of being agreed across South
East London for all Acute Providers.
For Children and Young People wheelchairs the time waiting from referral to the
wheelchair being provided within 18 weeks: there has been a 7% improvement year
on year. However, the planned level has also increased, so it is challenged going
forwards.
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Indicators

Standard 17-18

Mental Health Adults
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Recovery Rate
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Access Rate

YTD 18-19 Direction Change
Versus 17-18

50.0%

52.9%

51.3%

4.2%

4.2%

4.5%

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 6 week standard

75.0%

66.3%

82.7%

Early Intervention in Psychosis 2 weeks

50.0%

67.1%

72.5%

Dementia Diagnosis Rate

66.7%

71.3%

74.2%

Mental Health Children
Eating Disorders Urgent in 1 week

100.0%

100.0%

66.7%

Eating Disorders Routine in 4 weeks

80.0%

77.4%

92.0%

E Referral Rate out of Referrals

80%

56.0%

84.0%

Personal Health Budgets per 100000 Registered Population

33.4

15.5

22.4

Others

Continuing Healthcare
CHC Assessment in Acute Setting (Less than 15%)

15%

46.6%

12.5%

CHC Assesments Completed in 28 Days

80%

58.7%

91.6%

►
▲
▲
▲
▲

Worse by 1.6%
Better by 0.3%
Better by 16.4%
Better by 5.4%
Better by 2.9%

▼
▲

Better by 14.6%

▲
▲

Better by 6.9

Worse by 1 patient

Better by 28%

▼ Better by 34.1%
▲ Better by 32.9%
Most data is for 2018-19 apart from Mental Health Adults and Children Data and e referral which is to
January 2019.

There has been good improvement in nearly all of the indicators for Mental Health for
Adults and the time to access psychological therapies within 6 weeks is now meeting
the standard, having been challenged in the previous year. More people have begun
psychological therapies year on year. The number of people recovering at the end
of treatment continues to meet the standard.
There has also been an enormous improvement in Continuing Healthcare with the
vast majority of assessments taking place outside hospital and the percentage of
assessments taking place within 28 days is almost a third better than the previous
year and meets the standard.
For Children and Young People’s mental health:
•

On waiting times for Eating Disorders overall waiting times have improved, but
one person waited longer than 1 week for an urgent referral. NB Reported
Performance is a Rolling Year.

•

The CCG should commission Children and Young People’s mental health
services, so that over 32% of Children and Young People assessed as having
a mental health need should have been referred and had at least two
appointments. In 2018/19 this level is unlikely to be met. The new services
commissioned, especially an online service in 2018/19, are planned to
improve this position for 2019/20.
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The NHS e-Referral Service (e-RS) combines electronic booking with a choice
of place, date and time for first hospital or clinic appointments. Patients can
choose their initial hospital or clinic appointment, book it in the GP surgery at
the point of referral.

9. Financial Performance
In 2018/19 we achieved all of our statutory financial duties which are:
•

Total CCG gross expenditure should not exceed CCG income.

•

Total CCG net expenditure should not exceed revenue resource allocation.

•

Capital expenditure should not exceed the amount allocated by NHSE.

•

Expenditure on administration should not exceed the allocated running cost
allowance.

We also exceeded the Better Practice Payments Code requirement to pay at least
95% of invoices within 30 days and managed our cash within limits set by NHS
England.
The table below sets summarises the delivery of these duties. These are also shown
in our financial accounts statements.
Duty

Duty

Target

Performance

Yes/No

£000

£000

Yes

489,805

489,474

Yes

105

105

Yes

486,563

486,232

Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

6,744

6,099

Achieved

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions
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A planned cumulative surplus of £10,660k was agreed with NHS England at the start
of the year with a planned in-year surplus of £300k compared to the CCGs Revenue
Resource Limit. A financial risk share agreement is in place across the six CCGs in
south east London. During 2018/19 the CCG did not receive or contribute any funds
under the risk share arrangement and its revenue resource limit included in the
2018/19 annual accounts is as notified by NHS England.
The table below sets out the position relating to achievement of the CCGs surplus.
Cumulative

In-Year

£000

£000

Initial target

10,660

300

Actual year end

10,691

331

31

31

surplus
Better/(worse) than
target

The actual cumulative surplus at the year end was £10,691k. This is £31k better than
target. The £10,691k surplus will be carried forward and for drawdown in future years.
Our expenditure on commissioned services in 2018/19
We commission the majority of NHS services for Lewisham people. We spend the
money available to us on healthcare for Lewisham patients and we aim to spend it in
the best way that will improve the health of and the care for Lewisham people, which
delivers value for money to the taxpayer and is sustainable in the long term.
In 2018/19 our net annual expenditure was £486.2m. Approximately 73% of our
expenditure is on a combination of hospital services, mental health services and
community services.
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The following chart shows the breakdown of our expenditure by service type in 2018/19.

Commissioning Expenditure 2018-19 (£m)

Mental Health
Services,
£73.41m,
15.10%

Community
Services,
£31.04m, 6.38%

Continuing
Care Services,
£19.78m, 4.07%

Hospital
Services,
£250.27m,
51.47%

Primary Care
Prescribing and
Other Services ,
£36.02m, 7.41%

Primary Care
CoCommissioning
Better Care
, £43.51m,
Fund, £20.92m,
8.95%
4.30%

Others
Services,
£11.29m, 2.32%
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The following chart shows the breakdown of our expenditure by service type in 2017/18 for
comparison purposes.
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The table below shows the 2018/19 expenditure on hospital services provided by the CCG’s
main providers.
2018/19 Expenditure on Local Hospital Providers by Service Type

Service Type
A&E Attendances
Emergency/Non Elective Admissions
Outpatients Attendances
Elective Inpatient Admissions
Maternity Spells
Others:
CQUIN
Critical Care
Direct Access Diagnostics
Drugs & Devices
Other
Total

10.

Lewisham
Guys and Kings College
and
St. Thomas'
Hospitals
Greenwich
NHSFT
NHSFT
NHS Trust
£m
£m
£m
13.68
1.39
2.37
55.25
7.64
10.85
23.12
11.40
8.64
16.16
11.20
6.88
7.44
3.41
4.19
26.64
7.85
5.78
3.91
1.09
5.36
2.06
3.66
11.61
0.29
0.09
1.63
1.90
1.27
4.13
2.50
0.76
142.30
42.88
38.71

Sustainable Development

As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to
work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve. Sustainability
means spending public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources
and building healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of social,
environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate
and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources. Demonstrating
that we consider the social and environmental impacts ensures that the legal
requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012) are met.

In order to fulfil our responsibilities for the role we play, NHS Lewisham CCG has
created a sustainable development management plan (SDMP).

Our sustainability mission statement is: improve both the sustainability of an
organisation and the way that it provides services and interacts with people in the
community.
Policies
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in
our process and procedures sustainability features.
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Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the
healthcare estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the
effects of heat waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods,
droughts etc. To ensure that the CCG would continue to meet the needs of our local
population during such events we have developed and implemented a number of
policies and protocols in partnership with other local agencies such as our Business
Continuity Plans.
The organisation has identified the need for the development of a board approved
plan for future climate change risks affecting our area.

We do not currently use the on-line Sustainable Development Assessment Tool
(SDAT) tool though we will explore this during 2019/20 as means to better
understand our sustainable development work, measure progress and help make
plans for the future.

As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable
future, we help to achieve that goal by promoting the benefits of sustainability to our
staff.
Social Value
Collectively as an organisation we recognise the contribution that commissioning,
procurement and commercial can have in delivering sustainability and social value,
and our duty under the Public Services Value Act.

Our statement on Public Services (Social Value) Act is: that In accordance with our
obligations under the Social Value Act, we will consider, at the pre-procurement
stage:
- how the services to be procured may improve the social, environmental and
economic wellbeing of its area; and
- how in conducting a procurement process NHS Lewisham CCG might act with a
view to securing that improvement

We have not assessed the social and environmental impacts for the organisation.
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Partnerships
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract
mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS
policy framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate
in a sustainable manner. Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will
need to be provided in part through contracting mechanisms.

We have not currently established any strategic partnerships.
For commissioned services here is the sustainability comparator for our providers;
please note this is published a year in arrears
Organisation Name

SDMP Adaptation

on track for 34%
reduction

Healthy
SDAT transport
plan

SD
Reporting
score

LEWISHAM AND
GREENWICH NHS
TRUST

No

No

4. No Sustainable
Development
Management Plan

n/a

No

Poor

SOUTH LONDON AND
MAUDSLEY NHS
FOUNDATION TRUST

No

No

1. On track to meet
target

n/a

No

Minimum

KING'S COLLEGE
HOSPITAL NHS
FOUNDATION TRUST

No

No

1. On track to meet
target

n/a

No

Good

GUY'S AND ST THOMAS'
NHS FOUNDATION
No
TRUST

No

1. On track to meet
target

n/a

No

Good

More information on these measures is available here:
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/sdmp-annual-reporting.aspx
Performance
Organisation
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS,
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a
28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by
reducing our carbon emissions 28% by 2020-21 using 2007-08 as the baseline year
Here is how we have done:
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Commissioned Activity
Organisation Name

Building
Building
energy use
energy use
per WTE

Water

Water
Percent
use per high cost
WTE
waste

Waste cost
increase

LEWISHAM AND
0-10%
GREENWICH NHS TRUST decrease

3.8

>20%
54
increase

>89% high >20%
cost
increase

SOUTH LONDON AND
MAUDSLEY NHS
FOUNDATION TRUST

Data not
available

4.5

0-20%
32
increase

>75% high Data not
cost
available

KING'S COLLEGE
HOSPITAL NHS
FOUNDATION TRUST

>10%
decrease

3.5

>20%
29
increase

>75% high >20%
cost
increase

GUY'S AND ST THOMAS'
0-10%
NHS FOUNDATION
decrease
TRUST

5.1

>20%
45
increase

>75% high 0-20%
cost
increase

Energy
NHS Lewisham CCG has spent £16,250 on energy in 2018-19 (£9,578 2017/18)
Paper
The movement to a Paperless NHS can be supported by staff reducing the use of
paper at all levels, this reduces the environmental impact of paper, reducing cost of
paper to the NHS and can help improve information security.

We now provide all of our meeting papers electronically.

This has significantly

reduced the cost and environmental impact for the use of paper, and promoted a
'paperless' way of working.
Our spend on paper (stationary and supplies) during 2018/19 was £1,343.
Travel
We recognise that a Healthy Transport Plan is a foundational part of our Travel
Policy and we will be putting that in place as soon as possible.

We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by
promoting active travel to our staff and to the patients and public that use our
services.
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Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies
across the board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for
active travel to improve staff wellbeing and reduce sickness. Air pollution, accidents
and noise all cause health problems for our local population, patients, staff and
visitors and are caused by cars, as well as other forms of transport.

Furthermore, we have not been able calculate the total economic impact on health
and society from travel we control or influence.
Travel undertaken
All travel is shown in miles.
Mode 2014/15 2015/16
miles
58,598 66,283

Staff commute

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
54,777 61,480 65,348

Finite resource use – Water
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
Water
- £
- £
Water & Sewage Spend £

2017/18

2018/19

£ 1,275

£ 651

Modelled Carbon Footprint
The following information estimates the impact of our supply chain from our spend.
More information available here: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policystrategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx
Proportions of Carbon Footprint 2018-19

Core emissions

2%

Commissioning
Procurement
Commute

98%
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Biodoversity Action Plan
Currently we have not yet established a formal approach to unlock the opportunity
and benefits of natural capital within a healthcare environment in supporting the
health and wellbeing of patient, staff and the community and to protect biodiversity.

11.

Engaging people and communities

Our vision for engagement
We believe engagement goes further than communication or consultation, and
involves commissioners in providing opportunities for patients, carers and the public
to work alongside them as equal partners in transparent decision-making.
Engagement is a two-way process, involving interaction and listening, with the goal of
making better decisions and commissioning better services that deliver our strategic
vision for all – ‘better health, best care and best value.
Our public engagement charter
We have many ways in which we carry out local involvement. These are outlined in
our Public Engagement Charter:
We will:
1. listen to people and ensure in every way possible that public views are heard
and acted upon
2. involve the public early in developing our strategic plans and how we plan to
deliver improvements in local services
3. involve the public early in our decision-making about how we commission new
services, and redesign them.
4. demonstrate what impact the public has had on the decisions we make
5. always feed back to people who have worked with us
6. use the information provided to ensure that we improve the quality of our
services, support equality and identify inequalities in access to healthcare
7. be honest about when we are engaging, when we are consulting and when we
are providing information
8. support the Involvement of patients in decisions about their care
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9. make sure that everyone who works with us will recognise and promote the
value of involving the public.
Lewisham has a diverse population and our aim is to engage with all our
communities and promote our health messages in different settings. In 2018/19, we
made excellent progress against our Public Engagement Workplan for the year
which is evidenced in the progress report. We have been out and about in the
community, creating new connections and extending our reach significantly. With
more than 100 engagement activities, we have interacted with over 2,350 people.
These activities have helped enable us to increase our residents’ understanding of
the context in which we are operating. We have also developed and maintained
positive connections with our communities to build the relationships which will enable
us to work with local people to develop and implement our plans to transform local
services in the future.
We have been pleased to link in with Lewisham’s Neighbourhood Community
Development Partnerships (NCDPs), which are growing stronger and have provided
an excellent opportunity to reach a wide range of community organisations.
During the year we held discussions at a diverse range of community events and
meetings, including the Lewisham Carers Mental Health Forum, Lewisham
Pensioners Forum, Lewisham Speaking Up, Africa Advocacy Foundation (AAF) and
many more. We also took up opportunities to support new local initiatives and
engage with local people (for example Table Talk, Time Bank and Macmillan Cancer
Support, Lewisham Library Health Talks).
We attended community Festivals, such as Downham Celebrates and Lewisham
People’s Day: 2018 marked a special year and at People’s Day we celebrated the
70th anniversary of the NHS with local people.
We carried out a review of primary care Interpreting and Translation Services,
engaging widely with people who speak the 5 most highly requested languages and
people who use British Sign Language. This engagement has strengthened our links
with specific groups in Lewisham and will inform improvements to the future service.
This has also been the case with additional projects such as the co-design of our
rough sleeper service and diabetes workshops.
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Lewisham Health and Care Partners
Lewisham Health and Care Partners (LHCP) is a partnership of the main health and
care commissioners and providers in Lewisham. The partners include NHS
Lewisham Commissioning Group, Lewisham Council, One Health Lewisham Ltd GP
Federation, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust. A significant amount of our public engagement activities in
2018/19 were organised and run with LHCP.
Highlights of this work are our Frailty Summit in July, our event Working Together for
a Healthier Lewisham in October and our BAME Mental Health Summit also in
October. Each of these was well attended (105 people for the Frailty Summit, 98 for
the Working Together event and 80 for the Mental Health Summit) and feedback
from each of these events has been incorporated into the partner’s plans.
Public Reference Group
Our Public Reference Group (PRG) is one of the many ways local residents can get
involved with the CCG. PRG members act as a mediating voice between the public
and the CCG. They do this by meeting regularly and giving their opinion and views to
make valuable contributions to help shape health services for people in Lewisham.
The PRG have been extremely busy this year. In December 2018 the original group
of members came to the end of their three year term. We are pleased to have
successfully recruited and inducted an energetic and enthusiastic new group of
Lewisham residents who come from a range of backgrounds and collectively have
excellent local connections. At the end of the first group’s term we completed a
comprehensive PRG Evaluation Report which demonstrates the difference they
made and provides key learning points which will enable us to involve them in even
more meaningful and effectives ways in the future. We have already put many of this
learning into action and the second group of members will benefit from this.
Summary of the impact of involvement – You said, we did…are doing
Here are a few of the areas where we have involved the public in commissioning
activities and the impact that engagement activity has had. This covers some of the
the ways in which he have involved members of the public in planning, governance
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(the way in which we ensure that we do the right things, in the right way, for the right
people, in a way that upholds the values set in the NHS Constitution) procuring (this
includes identifying and specifying the need, purchasing, reviewing and managing
the supply of goods and services from our providers) and developing policies.
Frailty
Background
On 4 July
2018 we held
a Frailty
Summit with
Lewisham
Health and
Care
Partners
(LHCP) to
listen to local
residents'
and
professionals'
views about
working
together
better to
improve
support and
care for
people who
are frail.

You said
•

•

•

•

•

We did…and are doing

A lack of
overarching
coordination of care
both within and
across different
providers of health
and social care.
This is made worse
by a lack of
connection between
health and social
care information and
systems.
There are often lowlevel mental health
issues, loneliness,
depression and
difficult family
relationships that, if
managed better,
could improve the
patient's and their
family's overall
confidence and
ability to support
themselves.
The current system
lacks mechanisms
to identify
someone's needs
earlier.
Frailty is often
picked up late when
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Lewisham Health and Care Partners
have used the ideas and issues
raised at the summit to influence
existing programmes of work,
including:
•
•

•

•

Forming four neighbourhood
'Care at Home' teams
Developing Lewisham SAIL
Connections to provide a
quick and simple way to
access a wide range of local
services to support older
people in maintaining their
independence, safety and
wellbeing.
Developing local care
networks to focus on
improving communication at a
neighbourhood level and to
bring together health and care
professionals to identify and
resolve local issues,
strengthening links to the
voluntary and community
sector.
Lewisham & Greenwich NHS
Trust (LGT) are testing ways
to transform the current
Ambulatory Care Unit (ACU)
at University Hospital
Lewisham into a 'community
hub' to provide a coordinated
response to patients for

Background

You said

We did…and are doing

a person's situation
has become more
difficult to resolve.

•

There were some great
suggestions to improve on
these issues, including:
•

•

Having a systematic
assessment of
home and health
early to prevent a
person's situation
becoming more
complex.
Having a frailty care
coordinator

assessment and treatment in
the community
Lewisham Health and Care
Partners have procured a
Population Health and
Care Information Management
System to enable better
information sharing across
Lewisham providers of care
and are looking at how we can
use this system to better
manage frail elderly patients
to prevent them becoming
frailer.

Find out more and read the full
report from the Frailty Summit

Carers
Background

You said

We did…and are doing

Our Public
Reference
Group (PRG)
have a
particular
interest in the
role of carers
and support
provided to
carers.

Our PRG members
pointed out that many
carers don’t recognise
themselves as carers
because they think what
they normally do is their
duty as a relative or friend
and don’t access the
support available to them.

Formed a subgroup of the PRG who
have been working with
commissioners and Carers
Lewisham to develop a campaign
that will help residents to recognise
they are Carers and where they can
get support. This will be piloted in
Spring 2019.

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) Transformation Plan
Background

You said

We did…and are doing

The draft of a
PRG members were
CAMHS
concerned at the lack of
Transformation reference to Black and
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•

A more evidenced focus on
equality has influenced four
borough discussions with

Background
Update
briefing was
shared with
our PRG in
September.

You said

We did…and are doing

Asian Minority Ethnic
(BAME) communities in
the briefing.

•

•

South London and Maudsley
(SLaM) regarding the existing
dataset, this will result in
revised key performance
indicators which are better
able to demonstrate any
barriers to access including
cultural diversity
Findings fed into the
councillor-led review of the
mental health and wellbeing
needs of Children and Young
People which has
recommended that as part of
the early help review, we
should consider using local
authorities/CCG CAMHS
funding to develop an
approach to work specifically
with young people at risk of
exclusion, paying particular
attention to the needs of
BAME young people.
Findings also contributed to
the updated CAMHS
Transformation Plan 2018

End of Life Care Transformation
Background
Members of
the PRG joined
local patients,
carers and
residents with
representatives
from the PRG,
Healthwatch,

You said
•

We did…and are doing

Training: As a carer
I want the people
caring for my dad to
be specially trained,
there needs to be
more respite care
and an overall plan
to make it more
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•

We included specific Key
Performance Indicators in the
service specification which
measure key parts of the
patient’s experience
including dignity and how
patients felt they were
treated by staff.

Background

You said

Lewisham
Nexus, Three
Cs Support,
Carers
Lewisham and
Metro for
engagement
activities to
help to develop
the Lewisham
End of Life
Transformation
Project during
the reprocurement of
the Community
Specialist
Palliative Care
Service.

We did…and are doing

likely that he can
stay at home.
There should be a
Patients’ Charter
that tells patients
and carers what
their rights are and
what to expect.
Dignity is important
and should be
“automatic”.
People need a
single
number/named
person
It is important to link
into cultural/ethnic
groups for people
who do not have a
voluntary sector
organisation
working on their
behalf
Look at services
from the patient
perspective and
quality based on
patient experience.

•

•

•

•

•

•

We also included preparing a
Patient Charter within the
contract for the new supplier.

Pharmacy First refresh
Background
During 2018,
we reviewed
the
Pharmacy
First scheme
and are
planning to

You said

We did…and are doing

For the leaflet:
•
•
•

Add information on
pharmacies list
Add date/version of
leaflet
Shorten website url
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The Pharmacy Team and
Communications Manager reviewed
the PRG suggestions which will be
incorporated, where appropriate, for
the production and promotion of the
new material. This will include:

Background

You said

We did…and are doing

refresh the
• Add clear protocol,
materials and
how/when to use
run a
For the campaign:
promotional
• Use local papers
campaign to
and Lewisham Life
raise
to advertise
awareness of
• Improve advertising
the scheme
in the pharmacies
during Spring
• Clarification for
2019. Our
patients on borough
Public
boundaries and use
Reference
of the scheme
Group were
invited to
review the
materials and
advise on
what
improvements
can be
made.

•
•
•

•
•

•
•

•

Clarification for patients on
borough boundaries.
Clearer explanation of
eligibility criteria
Signpost to how to access the
pharmacies list, telephone
numbers, and additional
information such as opening
times, late-night chemists, and
bank holiday opening.
Add date/version of leaflet
It was recommended to
shorten the website link,
however the team believes it
should include the full title to
promote memory recall of the
scheme.
Add clear protocol, how/when
to use the scheme.
The scheme will be clearly
advertised in the participating
pharmacies.
Using local papers and
Lewisham Life to advertise.

Involving people with disabilities
Background

You said

We did…and are doing

In June 2018
we met with
Lewisham
Deaf
Community
Association

They had some feedback
on access to services and
their experiences.

Feedback and experience passed on
to commissioners and providers.

We persuaded one of the group’s
They were also keen to get members to join our Public
Reference Group. We have adapted
involved in our
engagement. Deaf people the content and how we run the
meetings to make them more
don’t have a voice.
accessible and use a BSL
interpreter.
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Evaluation and monitoring
We always evaluate the effectiveness of our involvement and engagement activities
and monitor equality and diversity. We have learnt some valuable lessons from our
engagement activities and from those of our partners, including Healthwatch, which
will inform our plans for 2019/20. For example from equalities reports we have
identified that we tend to have lower interactions with Asian residents and with
residents who are Muslim. Also interactions are low with our Spanish, Portuguese
and Vietnamese communities. For each of these groups we are developing new
ideas to increase connections and interactions during 2019/20.

12.

Reducing health inequality

Our strategic priorities are based on an analysis of Lewisham’s Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment’s (JSNA) which identifies health needs of the local population. This
includes disease prevalence amongst different ethnic groups, the health needs of
different age groups, and the impact of deprivation and other factors which affect
health equality and inequalities.

Our commissioning activity for 2018/19 has been informed by the commissioning
intentions for 2017-2019 that were reviewed and agreed by the Health and Wellbeing
Board. Within these commissioning intentions we defined Lewisham Commissioners’
expectations of all its providers is to deliver advice, support and care that includes:
•

Population based – which is a way of looking at patients/service users not just
as individuals but as a part of a wider population

•

Promoting health and wellbeing - helping people to get the right advice, support
and care in the right place, first time with a shift towards proactive and
preventative services and supporting community development

•

Evidence based and outcome focused - meeting the needs of whole population,
addressing inequality and equalities issues

•

Co-produced with patients, service users, carers and wider communities - in
partnership with the people and communities. As Commissioners we believe it
is only by the engagement of the current and potential service users to help
reshape services that we can achieve better outcomes
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An Equality Analysis was undertaken of the Partnership Commissioning Intentions and
has identified any potential or actual impact these Commissioning Intentions may have
on different groups of people.

We published our annual equalities report in January 2019 (here). It describes in detail
and provides case studies that show how we are meeting our general and specific
duties of the Equality Act 2010, through our commissioning intentions, equalities
analyses, public engagement and our equalities objectives. It includes case studies
that describe in more detail how we have met the needs of groups from our local
population who have shared protected characteristics and/or experience health
inequality. Some of the examples are:
•

BAME Mental Health Summit
The event held in October 2018 was jointly organised by the CCG and
Lewisham Council as part of the local focus on health inequalities for the
BAME population prioritised by the Health & Wellbeing Board. Healthwatch
and the Lewisham BAME network participated in the preparation and delivery
of the event. It was well attended with over 80 participants: patients, carers
and also representatives from a variety of community groups, the CCG Public
Reference Group members, commissioners and providers. The participants
heard several examples of lived experience before lively breakout discussion
sessions. Several clear themes relating to the experiences that BAME
residents have in relation to mental health services came up:
o Stigma - the widespread stigma around mental health issues needs to
be addressed
o Communication - improved communication around what is already
happening within in terms of both community and statutory services
o Early intervention - there were many comments about the need for
earlier intervention with young people, via education and other routes
to prevent mental ill health
o Genuine co-production - from both the feedback forms and discussion
it was evident that there needs to be a clear mechanism for genuine
dialogue and co-production with BME communities for both mental and
physical health
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o Cultural competence of services - There were discussions around
understanding both the need for and benefits of culturally specific
services, and the potential benefits of seeing a professional from a
similar background as your own
•

Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services - The Lewisham
Children and Young People’s (CYP) Joint Commissioning Team commissions
a range of services for children and young people in Lewisham. The NeuroDevelopment Team (NDT), Paediatric Liaison Service (PLS), and the Parental
Wellbeing Service (PWS) were reviewed as part of the 2018 Equality Delivery
System (EDS2) process. The stakeholder panel identified the following
aspects working well:
o Assessments take into account the holistic needs of the children and
young people, and subsequent treatment Care Plans reflect this
o Commissioner ensured there is a selection of teams to support
individual needs and there is currently some work to improve the
transition between CYP and Adult Services
o There is a proactive attitude to improve transitions and the
commissioning team is focusing on this area
o The service is excellent at service users feedback
o Connection with Young Mayor Advisors (YMA), an extremely diverse
group, and Lewisham Youth Advisory Group Policy in place
o Young person as part of recruitment panel

•

Community Anticoagulant Service (CACS) - an update on the findings of the
EDS2 review of the service in 2016. The EDS2 process in 2016 found that
the numbers of BME services users was low and which was in contrast to
what was known, i.e. that 46.5% Lewisham population is BAME and at greater
risk of diabetes, hypertension and stroke. In response to the EDS2 findings,
community pharmacy anticoagulation clinics were commissioned to address
inequality. The current provider has changed their inclusion and exclusion
criteria to include more patients to have their international normalised ratio
(INR) checked at one of community pharmacies providing the service, thus
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improving access for patients. (The anticoagulant effect of warfarin is
measured as the ‘international normalised ratio’ (INR)). The CCG is working
with stakeholders to design an additional service which is to initiate direct oral
anticoagulants (DOACs) for patients with atrial fibrillation (AF).
•

Rough Sleepers’ Pilot: Improving Access to Primary Care - This pilot service
established in April 2018 is described in further detail elsewhere in this report.
It has been established in order to address the needs identified in the Equality
Impact Assessment on the future of the NHS Walk-in Centre and the impact
on rough sleepers.

As part of our assessment for the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) in October
2018 we asked local stakeholders and service users for their views on how well we
had delivered our commissioning responsibilities for the children and young people’s
mental health services, the GP extended access service, and the community falls
service. Their conclusions were that all three services reviewed are delivering good
quality services, none of them was able to demonstrate (with data) that more than
three or four of the nine protected characteristics is being collected and being analysed
to provide assurance that there is not a group of patients with a particular characteristic
who are not accessing the service, are able to access the services or what has been
the experience of patients who have particular these protected characteristics.
Therefore all the services were graded as ‘developing’.
For the four goals of the EDS2 the CCG achieved the following gradings:
EDS2 Goals

Grading achieved
In 2018
DEVELOPING

1 – Better Health Outcomes
2 – Improved patient access and experience

DEVELOPING

3 – A representative and supported workforce

DEVELOPING

4 – Inclusive leadership

ACHIEVING

The grade for EDS2 Goal 3 took into account the results of the Staff Survey which
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demonstrated that from the data available that overall most staff members from most
protected groups fare as well as the overall workforce but with some areas for
improvement, such as access to training and development opportunities.
The CCG grade for Goal 4 was assessed independently. The independent assessor
noted that performance has continued to improve, highlighting many examples of
effective consideration of equalities from clinical members and non-clinical members
of the governing body and excellent examples from governing body reports with good
explanations of how services were being amended to reduce inequalities.

The

assessor noted that our approach to equalities included the two additional populations
that are part of OHSEL/STP: Carers, and the socially and economically deprived, as
well as the nine protected characteristics defined in the Equality Act.
The NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) is a benchmarking tool
introduced by NHS England to assess the progress of race equality within NHS
organisations annually.
The percentage of BAME people in the Lewisham population is 46.5 %. Our aim is to
reflect this diversity in our workforce however, analysis of the CCG workforce shows
that CCG representation of BAME employees in the CCG’s workforce is 47.29%
and the percentage of BAME staff in bands 8-9 and VSM is 38%, which is 2% more
than in 2017. The percentage of BAME Governing Body members is 25%, which is
the same as in previous years.
The CCG’s Equality & Diversity Steering Group has also assessed the performance
against the WRES of the CCG’s main provider organisations, in particular to confirm
that they have been meeting the reporting requirements and milestones of the
WRES and that they have action plans in place. For example, the group has
received a report outlining LGT’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion objectives,
specifically to, identify and take action to address the negative disparity between the
experience of white and BME staff, for instance through personal commitments of
the chief executive and other executive team members.

Through the contractual arrangement, we receive reports at the Clinical Quality
Review Groups (CQRGs) from local providers, who are expected to take steps to
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address key shortcomings in data, or significant gaps between the treatment and
experience of white and BAME staff, and to publish WRES data on their web sites
and share with Board and staff.
The outcomes of the EDS assessment process and the review of the WRES have
informed the development of our organisational equalities objectives, helping to
ensure that we can build on areas of strength, and continue to improve further in the
other areas. The objectives cover:
o Ensure better data collection through the referral process to enable improved
understanding regarding the people who use services, their outcomes and
access and experience, focused on those with long-term conditions

o To cultivate an organisation that is inclusive, free from discrimination with all
able to fulfil their potential.

o Ensure Governing Body members and senior leaders maintain equality and
diversity as a core element the organisation’s vision, values, strategies

13.

Health and wellbeing strategy

The CCG’s positive relationship with the Health & Wellbeing Board (HWB) and other
local partners, and contribution to the delivery of local strategies and priorities is
integral to this report, for instance the work of the Lewisham Health & Care Partners
(LHCP) and adult integration programme in the development of the whole system
model of care. This has been reflected in the contribution to the planning and delivery
of the Health & Wellbeing Board’s summit on mental health services and Lewisham’s
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) population, and the review of the outcomes
from that summit. The CCG has also worked closely with HWB partners on the summit
on frailty in July, the LHCP public and stakeholder engagement event ‘Working
together for a healthier Lewisham’ held in October, on the sub-group of the board that
leads on the development of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) topic areas
and reports. Health and Wellbeing Board members have been consulted on this
review, and at its meeting on 7th March 2019 noted the CCG contribution to the delivery
of local strategies and priorities such as the work of the Lewisham Health & Care
Partners and adult integration programme in the development of the whole system
model of care.
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14.

Our Healthier South East London

Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL) is South East London’s Sustainability
and Transformation Partnership (STP), and brings together our health and social
care partners in south east London to make sure we are doing all we can to work in
partnership to get the best health outcomes for our population.

OHSEL evolved from a commissioner-led strategy – established in 2013 - into a
partnership between local commissioners and providers, working with local
authorities, patients and the public.

Published on 4 November 2016, the original Sustainability and Transformation Plan
(full version and summary) was a series of plans for different clinical areas and
enablers, such as workforce and estates, which are at different stages of
development. Our south east London Sustainability and Transformation Plan was
one of the first in the country to be made public.

The NHS Long Term Plan was published on 7 January 2019 with a requirement for
us to review our existing plan and agree a refreshed version based on the
commitments set out in the new Long Term Plan. We will be submitting our revised
plan for the next five years in autumn 2019.

In December 2018, we completed an 11 week aspirant Integrated Care System
(ICS) programme. The vision set out in the Long Term Plan is for all STPs to
become ICSs by 2021. As part of the programme we looked at delivering better
joined up care at borough level as well as networking more specialist services. We
will be taking forward work toward becoming an ICS in 2019/20.

Our STP has set the following five priorities:

1. Developing consistent and high quality community based care (CBC), primary
care development and prevention. This is an essential building block of our
Integrated Care System approach alongside the development of at scale
approaches to preventing ill health and reducing health inequalities.
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2. Improve quality and reduce variation across both physical and mental health.
This includes better integration of mental health, and reducing the pressure
on and simplifying urgent and emergency care.

3. Reducing cost through provider collaboration. This includes consolidation of
some clinical and non-clinical support services such as pathology and finance
back office functions.

4. Developing sustainable specialised services. This includes mental health
collaboration, renal and cardiac work.

5. Changing how we work together to deliver transformation. This focuses on
how we can make sure that we are able to provide care for the population of
south east London as it grows and ages, in a way that is affordable and
meets the needs of a 21st century population. In particular, it looks at new and
more effective ways of providing care; avoiding the need to visit hospitals and
making the best use of new technology.

Engagement
The models of care developed through Our Healthier South East London are the
result of several years of partnership working between clinicians, commissioners,
council social care leads and local hospitals and have been informed by extensive
engagement at south east London level and through CGGs with local communities,
patients and the public.

Patient and Public Advisory Group (PPAG): We have patient and public voices
(PPVs) on each of our clinical workstreams influencing all our key programmes of
work and feeding into our PPAG. The PPAG is made up of 14 PPVs, each of whom
covers one or more specific workstreams. PPAG meets on a bi-monthly basis.

Elective Orthopaedic Clinical Network: Orthopaedic surgery is one of the main
reasons for people having operations in south east London. Formed in 2018, our
network aims to ensure equal outcomes at all our hospitals across the STP. The
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network is comprised of healthcare professionals and a patient representative with
personal experience of receiving elective orthopaedic care at Orpington Hospital.
This year we have agreed a standard pathway for people having hip and knee
replacements. We set up focus groups of patients who had experienced these
procedures, to inform development of the standard pathway.

Maternity Voices: A Maternity Voices Partnership (MVP) is a group made up of
women and their families, commissioners and healthcare professionals working
together to review and contribute to the development of local maternity care. There
are MVPs across all of the six boroughs of south east London and each MVP has a
local action plan. In addition there is MVP representation on both the south east
London maternity public health workstream and the south east London Better Births
Plan workstream. The role of the MVP member within these workstreams is to be
the voice of the women who will use the maternity services, providing guidance
around the needs of this group of women and fully contributing to all discussions
around the workstream objectives.

Find out more about the Lewisham Maternity Voices Partnership.

Stakeholder and Equalities Reference Group meetings: We continued to hold
these meetings in 2018/19 to ensure our plans are assured around patient and
public engagement and equalities issues. The Stakeholder Reference Group
submitted feedback as part of NHS England’s initial engagement on developing the
NHS Long Term Plan.

Some highlights from 2018/19
Cancer - Better access to diagnosis and advice through a new nurse-led out-ofhours helpline for all cancer patients across south east London; targeted bowel
cancer screening for people with learning disabilities; free home testing kits for
patients showing potential signs of colorectal cancer but at low risk; a new Rapid
Access Diagnostic Clinic, which is now also working more closely with mental health
services; a new academy at Guy’s Cancer Centre to enhance excellent cancer care.
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Community Based Care - Introducing the Red Bag Pathway across south east
London. This reduces the time taken for ambulance transfers, A&E assessments
and helps reduce avoidable hospital admission for care home residents through a
systematic and easily recognisable way of transferring paperwork, medications and
personal belongings.
Better estates – developing our estates strategy; receiving national capital and
other funding for projects to support improved access to a broader range of more
joined-up services in community settings; starting to redevelop Gallions Reach
Health Centre in Thamesmead, one of the largest community estates investments in
our STP.
Mental health – Increasing access for young people through a free online
counselling service, Kooth; increasing support for women in the first year after birth;
increasing access to support for people with mental ill health by training peer
mentors who have lived experience of mental ill health.

Urgent and Emergency Care - The new 111 Integrated Urgent Care service was
launched earlier this year. It gives people easier access to advice and services
where needed with additional input from GPs, nurses, paramedics and pharmacists.
Developing our workforce – by increasing their skills and increasing the range of
professionals working in GP surgeries. For example, the Physician Associate
Development Programme aims to increase the number of physician associates
working in south east London and enhance the skill mix and capacity of GP
practices in our boroughs.
Pathology - In 2018, provider trusts and clinical commissioning groups in south
east London started to work together to implement a network for delivering
pathology services under a single shared specification, in line with NHS
Improvement’s national pathology strategy. The chosen option was to procure a
networked model and a south east London pathology board was established to
oversee the process.
15. South East London Commissioning Alliance
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Launched on 1 April 2018, South East London Commissioning Alliance brings
together the six CCGs in south east London (Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth,
Lewisham and Southwark) to build on our existing collaboration to commission
services more efficiently and effectively for local people in each borough and across
south east London.
Each CCG in south east London retained their sovereign status and accountability
for commissioning primary, community, mental health and hospital services for
residents in their boroughs.
As part of the new arrangement, Southwark, Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich and
Lewisham CCGs agreed to share a single Accountable Officer and single Chief
Finance Officer (CFO). Andrew Bland took on the role of Accountable Officer from 1
April 2018 and Usman Niazi started as CFO on 12 February 2019. The CCG
Directors of Finance acted as CFOs for their CCGs until Usman’s appointment.
In its first year the Alliance explored opportunities for CCGs to work more
collaboratively looking at functions that can be carried out once on behalf of all
CCGs including development of a South East London Assurance team, and activities
where greater collaboration brings better outcomes for patients. Toward the end of
2018, we undertook focused work on our model for becoming an Integrated Care
System through an 11-week programme with NHS England.
2018/19 highlights
The Integrated Contracting Delivery Team (ICDT) significantly streamlined our
contracting and negotiating functions and brought about improvements across all our
providers. The team also works closely with each of the CCGs so that we can roll out
initiatives at scale. A good example of this is in Planned Care, where we have rolled
out a range of tools, such as Consultant Connect and VisualDx which help support
GP decision making and reduce the need for patients to be referred to hospital.
Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham CCGs started to develop ways of working to
address the challenges within those three boroughs for commissioners, providers
and local authorities. With a focus on Quality, Innovation, Productivity and
Prevention, a new team and different governance structure were set up to support
new joint working arrangements and help to reduce the demands on each CCG.

70

In November 2018 the south east London (SEL) Integrated Governance and
Performance (IG&P) committee was established by agreement of the governing
bodies of the six CCGs within the south east London Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP) area. Collectively the CCGs agree that some
performance challenges (particularly those related to the acute sector) require a
consistent approach to resolve these issues and this is best addressed at a south
east London level. There is also a mutual dependency in respect of financial
delivery, which impacts all SEL CCGs. SEL CCGs recognise the need to understand
the collective position and mitigations for each organisations contribution to the SEL
financial position.
As such, the SEL IG&P has been established to monitor the delivery of provider
organisations’ statutory and delivery responsibilities to ensure agreed actions and
mitigations are followed through; to discuss and agree appropriate remediation; and
to pro-actively identify and address declining performance indicators, ensuring
deterioration is managed rapidly. The current scope of the SEL committee includes
oversight of and coordination of the SEL CCGs’ response to: the delivery of the SEL
CCG control total (and as such the individual annual CCG control totals); the
sustainable delivery of the NHS Constitution standard for referral-to-treatment (RTT)
waiting times, cancer and diagnostics; and identification and pro-active management
of key strategic and operational risks relating to these areas.
The committee is chaired by an independent lay person (who does not sit on the
governing body of any CCG). Membership is made up of representatives from all
SEL governing bodies and the south east London commissioning alliance (SELCA)
executive team.
During January and February 2019, the scope and approach of the SEL IG&P have
been reviewed and recommendations for its future scope and function within CCGs’
governance structures will be taken to all SEL governing bodies for agreement.
As a system, we have also made smaller changes that contribute to being more
effective and making better use of funding, for example by implementing a single
software package for managing governing body and committee papers across all
CCGs.
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Looking forward to 2019/20 the Alliance will continue to support even greater
collaboration to support us in refreshing our plans following publication of the NHS
Long Term Plan and our move toward becoming an Integrated Care System.

16.

Healthy London Partnership

Along with all of London’s 32 CCGs, Greater London Authority, London Councils,
Public Health England and NHS England (London), we contributed funding towards
Healthy London Partnership (HLP) in 2018/19. The aim was to bring together the
NHS and partners in London to work towards the common goals set out in Better
Health for London, NHS Five Year Forward View and the devolution agreement.
HLP works as a partnership across London’s health and care system and beyond to
achieve these goals. This includes NHS organisations in London, including
Lewisham CCG, NHS England, NHS Improvement, hospital trusts and providers, as
well as working across health and care with the Greater London Authority (GLA), the
Mayor of London, Public Health England and London Councils. Additionally, HLP
hosts the London Health and Care Strategic Partnership Board which provides
oversight and leadership for devolution plans, working closely with the London
Health Board secretariat. HLP is supporting the development of the refreshed shared
vision for health and care to ensure all partners are clear about their role in making
London the world’s healthiest city.
2018/19 has been another busy year for Healthy London Partnership. Through
successful partnership working across health and care in London, HLP has helped to
deliver on a range of programmes, outputs and achievements spanning primary and
community care, secondary care and mental health, as well as those focussed on
integration of health and care and place based care. All this work is part of the
partnership’s collective aim to make London the world’s healthiest city.
During 2018, there was a collaborative focus on social prescribing, which is a way of
linking patients in primary care with sources of support within the community for nonmedical needs, as we have introduced with our SAIL programme in Lewisham.
The HLP proactive care team has worked closely with partners to develop a
draft ‘Social Prescribing Vision for London’. The draft vision was developed by the
GLA, NHS England, HLP and the London Social Prescribing Network, in
collaboration with partners across the NHS, local authority and voluntary, community
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and social enterprise (VCSE) sector to support the scale and spread of social
prescribing across London.
Other engagement highlights in 2018/19 include a number of significant projects
undertaken by Thrive LDN, the citywide movement launched by Mayor Sadiq Khan
to improve the mental health and wellbeing of all Londoners. This included helping
young Londoners to organise a festival of cultural activity as part of Thrive LDN’s
wider Are we OK London? campaign, which this year had a potential reach of over
23 million people. This year’s campaign engaged with a more diverse audience,
grew Thrive LDN’s followers and subscribers and increased discussion and action
around how inequality and discrimination can affect Londoners’ mental health and
wellbeing.
Lewisham was one of the boroughs included in the 17 ‘community conversations’ run
by Thrive LDN in partnership with the Mental Health Foundation (MHF). Each
community conversation produced a comprehensive write-up to underpin a plan for
local action. Their report Londoners Said… includes 10 recommendations from
Londoners on how to ensure people have the right support to stay mentally healthy.
Following on from the Great Weight Debate, which engaged Londoners on how best
to tackle childhood obesity, HLP has worked with fast food shops, businesses and
charities and young people in three London boroughs to pilot their ideas for making
high streets healthier for children and young people through the Healthy High Streets
Challenge. The Challenge provided invaluable insights into how to make healthier
choices easier on London’s high streets. The findings informed the Mayor’s policy to
restrict the advertising of food and drink that is high in fat, sugar and salt across
Transport for London’s advertising estate from February 2019, and will help to inform
Lewisham’s obesity strategy.
Further focus on children and young people was demonstrated through London’s
annual #AskAboutAsthma campaign. Led by HLP in conjunction with NHS England
London region, the campaign coincided with the start of the new school year when
hospital admission rates for asthma are at their highest. The campaign reached over
5.9 million people online in 2018. We supported this campaign in Lewisham through
social media, by prompting children and young people with asthma to review their
asthma plan, to seek an asthma review and to check they can use their inhaler
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correctly. We also asked residents in Lewisham to make an ‘asthma pledge’ such as
turning off their car engines when idling and using less toxic materials in hokmes and
offices. Additionally, HLP has developed the London asthma standards for children
and young people, bringing ambitions for how asthma care should be delivered
across the city with national and local standards, along with a new online toolkit for
staff which to date has been accessed just under 19,000 times.
2018 saw a further increase in patients across London accessing online GP
appointment booking, ordering of repeat prescriptions and access to coded
information in records. HLP has been working with London’s CCGs and NHS
England London region to support GP practices to offer and promote online services
to patients, such as the Ask NHS GP symptom checker app that we introduced in
Lewisham and which is described in the primary care section above.
Elsewhere on digital developments in 2018, London saw the full rollout of an NHS eReferral Service (e-RS) across 23 providers one month earlier than the national
target date. This was achieved through proactive and successful partnership working
between London’s health and care organisations and now means that all GP
practices in the capital can manage a patient’s first referral from primary care to
hospital through a paperless process. Again, further details of Lewisham’s
performance against the e-referral rates target are contained in section 8.
The London Mental Health Dashboard makes a wide range of London’s mental
health data publicly accessible in one place. Urgent suspected cancer referral
activity data is also now presented in a useful interactive dashboard developed by
HLP.
There has also been a strong focus on mental health transformation across London
during 2018/19. London’s crisis care system has been working to improve the quality
and consistency of care for people in mental health crisis. Through HLP, London’s
A&E departments and police forces have worked together to develop a handover
process for voluntary mental health patients in emergency departments, which has
resulted in 83% fewer people going missing from A&E during a mental health crisis
compared to the previous year. The handover process was awarded the Best Patient
Safety Initiative in A&E at the 2018 HSJ Awards.
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This year saw the NHS in London invest an extra £6 million into specialist mental
health services to support women during pregnancy and in the first year after giving
birth. From March 2019, services for perinatal mental health problems will be
available across all of London. The extra resource has resulted in 79 new whole time
equivalent clinicians for London during 2018/19 and this important specialist care is
now offered to nearly 5,300 women a year.
HLP also launched a Mental Health in Schools Toolkit in 2018 which provides a
range of information for schools, governors and commissioners on mental health and
emotional wellbeing in schools. The suite of resources includes links to relevant
guidance, practical tools and resources, and examples from across London of new
initiatives and approaches in schools or across local authorities.
By October 2018, Good Thinking – London’s unique digital mental wellbeing service
– had supported over 100,000 Londoners to actively tackle anxiety, sleeplessness,
stress and depression. Since its launch at the end of 2017, Good Thinking has
offered personalised new ways to improve mental wellbeing for Londoners.
Elsewhere through partnership working in 2018, a whole system estates planning
function has been established through the London Estates Board. In spring 2019, the
first London Health and Care Estates Strategy was developed which will support a
coordinated approach to using capital and the release of surplus to requirement NHS
estate, meaning much needed money is reinvested back into London’s health and
care system.
Finally, the clinically-led London Choosing Wisely programme concluded its work in
2018 to develop eight pan London commissioning policies. Managed by HLP, the
programme established clinical expert working groups to inform the harmonisation of
clinical commissioning policies for a limited number of specific treatments. The
findings of the review were incorporated into the updated South East London
Treatment Access Policy that our Governing Body approved in March 2019. Once
implemented, the policies will reduce variation of care for patients across London.
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You can explore HLP’s various programmes via its website or search the HLP
resources section for publications or case studies.
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Corporate Governance Report
Members Report
Member practices
NHS Lewisham CCG was made up of the following member practices during 2018/19:
Practice Name

Neighbourhood

Address

North

433 New Cross Road, SE14 6TJ

North

387 Queens Road, New Cross, London, SE14 5HD

North

Kingfisher Medical Centre, Staunton Street,
Deptford, SE8 5DA

North

Clifton Rise Family Practice, Waldron Health
Centre, Stanley Street, London, SE8 4BG

North

New Cross Health Centre, 40 Goodwood Road,
New Cross, SE14 6BL

Grove Medical Centre

North

Windlass Place, London, SE8 3QH

Vesta Road Surgery

North

58 Vesta Road, London, SE4 2NH

North

Waldron Health Centre, Stanley Street, London,
SE8 6TJ

North

502-504 New Cross Road, London, Se14 6TJ

North

Waldron Health Centre, Stanley Street, London,
SE8 4BG

North

2 Pearsons Avenue, SE14 6TG

Mornington Surgery
Queens Road Practice
Kingfisher
Clifton Rise
New Cross Health Centre

Amersham Vale Training Practice
Deptford Surgery
Waldron Family Group Practice
Deptford Medical Centre
Belmont Hill

Central

The Surgery, 36 Belmont Hill, Lewisham, SE13 5AY

Central

Lewisham Medical Centre, 308 Lee High Road, Lee,
SE13 5PJ

Lee Health Centre

Central

Lee Health Centre, 2 Handen Road, Se12 8NP

Morden Hill

Central

The Surgery, 21 Morden Hill, London, SE13 7NN

St Johns Medical Centre

Central

56-60 Loampit Hill, Lewisham, SE13 7SX

The Surgery, 20 Lee Road

Central

The Surgery, 20 Lee Road, Blackheath, SE3 9RT

Brockley Road

Central

465-467 Brockley Road, Brockley, SE4 2PJ

Hilly Fields Medical Centre

Central

172 Adelaide Avenue, Brockley, SE4 1JN

Central

Honor Oak Health Centre, 20 Turnham Road, SE4
2LA

Central

The Triangle Group Practice, 2 Morley Road,
London, SE13 6DQ

Central

The Primary Care Centre, Hawstead Road, London,
SE6 4JH

Central

4 Edwin Hall Place, Hither Green Lane, London,
SE13 6RN

Central

2 Handen Road, SE12 8NP

Lee High Road

Honor Oak Group Practice
Triangle Group
Rushey Green
Woodlands Health Centre
Nightingale
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Practice Name

Neighbourhood

Address

South Lewisham

South East

50 Conisborough Crescent, Catford, London, SE6
2SP

The Surgery, Torridon Road

South East

The Surgery, 80 Torridon Road, Catford, SE6 1RB

South East

Downham Health and Leisure Centre, 7-9 Moorside
Road, Downham, BR1 5EP

South East

The Surgery, 481-483 Downham Way, Downham,
Kent, BR1 5HU

ICO Group - The Surgery,
Chinbrook

South East

32 Chinbrook Road, Grove Park, London, SE12 9TH

Parkview Surgery

South East

186 Brownhill Road, Catford, London, SE6 1AT

ICO Group - Marvels Lane Health
Centre

South East

37 Marvels Lane, Grove Park, SE12 9PN

ICO Group - Moorside

South East

Downham Health and Leisure Centre, 7-9 Moorside
Road, Downham, BR1 5EP

ICO Group - The Surgery
Boundfield Road

South East

The Surgery, 103 Bounfield Road, Catford, SE6
1PG

Oakview Family Practice

South East

190 Shroffold Road, Downham, Kent, BR1 5NJ

South East
Baring Road Medical Centre

Baring Road Medical Centre, 282 Baring Road,
London, SE12 0DS

Jenner Practice

201 Stanstead Road, Forest Hill, London, SE23
1HU

Downham Family Practice
The Surgery, Downham Way

South West
South West

26 Holmshaw Close, Sydenham, London, SE26
4TH

Woolstone Medical Centre

South West

Woolstone Road, London, SE23 2TR

Sydenham Surgery

South West

2 Sydenham Road, Sydenham, SE26 5QW

South West

The Wells Park Practice, 1 Wells Park Road,
Sydenham, London, SE26 6JQ

South West

Bellingham Green Surgery, 24 Bellingham Green,
Catford, London, SE6 3JB

South West

The Vale Medical Practice, 195-197 Perry Vale,
Forest Hill, London, SE23 2JF

Sydenham Green Group Practice

Wells Park Practice
Bellingham Green Surgery
Vale Medical Centre

Composition of Governing Body
The Chair of the CCG Governing Body was Dr Marc Rowland until 31st August 2018. From 1st
September Dr Faruk Majid was the CCG Chair. Mr Andrew Bland has been the Accountable Officer.
The Membership Body, which at NHS Lewisham CCG has been known locally as the Clinical
Directors Committee (supported by wider membership structures as set out in our constitution), has
comprised the eight elected GP members of the CCG’s Governing Body plus the CCG Managing
Director (or his deputy).
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During 2018/19 this included:
•

Dr Marc Rowland (Chair) until 31st August

•

Dr David Abraham (Senior Clinical Director) until 31st August

•

Dr Faruk Majid (Clinical Director until 31st August then as Chair)

•

Dr Jacky McLeod (Senior Clinical Director)

•

Dr Angelika Razzaque (Clinical Director)

•

Dr Sebastian Kalwij (Clinical Director)

•

Dr Charles Gostling (Clinical Director until 31st August then as Senior Clinical Director)

•

Dr Esther Appleby (Clinical Director)

•

Dr Ravi Sharma (Clinical Director from 1st September)

•

Debbie Brown (Clinical Director from 1st September)

•

Mr Martin Wilkinson (Managing Director)

The Governing Body during 2018/19 has included the members of the Clinical Directors Committee
shown above, the Accountable Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, lay members, registered nurse
member, and secondary care doctor:
•

Mr Andrew Bland (Accountable Officer)

•

Mr David Maloney (acting Chief Financial Officer until 12th February 2019)

•

Usman Niazi (Chief Financial Officer from 12th February 2019)

•

Mr Ray Warburton (Lay member and deputy chair until 30th September)

•

Ms Shelagh Kirkland (Lay member)

•

Ms Anne Hooper (Lay member, and from 1st October deputy chair)

•

Ms Alison Browne (Registered nurse member)

•

Prof Simon MacKenzie (Secondary Care Doctor)

•

Mr Peter Ramrayka (Lay member from 15th October)

Committee(s), including Audit Committee
The CCG’s Audit Committee comprised the following members during the year ending 31st March
2019:
•

Mr Ray Warburton (Chair until 30th September)

•

Dr Jacky McLeod (Senior Clinical Director)

•

Ms Shelagh Kirkland (Lay member; Chair from 1st October)
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•

Ms Anne Hooper (Lay member)

•

Prof Simon MacKenzie (Secondary Care Doctor)

•

Mr Peter Ramrayka (Lay member from 15th October)

Details of the members of other committees can be found in Annual Governance Statement and
further details of the Governing Body and Clinical Director’s Committee can be found in the
Remuneration and Staff Report.
Register of Interests
Lewisham CCG is committed to the principles of good governance, leading to open and transparent
decision making. We have therefore established a policy to manage Conflict of Interests to ensure
that decisions made by the CCG will be taken and seen to be taken without any possibility of the
influence of external or private interests. Our updated policy that takes account of the latest statutory
guidance and was updated in June 2017.
A conflict of interest is defined as:
•

A conflict between the private interests and the official responsibilities of a person in a position
of trust

•

A set of conditions in which professional judgement concerning a primary interest (such as
patients' welfare or the validity of research) tends to be unduly influenced by a secondary
interest (such as financial gain)

•

The creation of a set of circumstances where one party is favoured over another by an
inadvertent preferential interest

In line with our conflicts of interest policy, arrangements to seek and receive declarations of interest
and maintain appropriate Registers of Declared Interests and Gifts and Hospitality have been put in
place. We publish our register of interests on our website which can be found at here, with the Gifts
and Hospitality register found on our website here.
Personal data related incidents
Information relating to the disclosure of incidents involving data loss and confidentiality breaches
can be found in the Annual Governance Statement.
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
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•

so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report

•

the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him
or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS Lewisham CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and
human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Andrew Bland to be the
Accountable Officer of NHS Lewisham CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,

•

For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure
that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),

•

For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).

•

The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,

•

Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and
with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance
with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),

•

Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals
basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group
and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial
year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of
the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
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•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the accounts; and,

•

Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and

•

Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts
and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below (e.g.
directions issued, s30 letter issued by external auditors), I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public
Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Disclosures:
NHS England issued legal directions to help address long standing performance problems with local
urgent and emergency care services. Under these directions from 1st September 2017 to 5th March
2019 our responsibility for acute commissioning and contracting was temporarily transferred to
Southwark CCG This also supported our ambitions as a CCG and helped us address areas found
to require improvement in 2016/17. High quality healthcare and patient experience is the most
important thing to Lewisham CCG and we have worked closely with local NHS partners to ensure
that patients receive the very best standards from the NHS. The Integrated Contracts Delivery Team
(ICDT) hosted by Southwark CCG has provided regular performance monitoring reports to our
Integrated Governance Committee.
I also confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to
have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditors are aware of that information.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Governance Statement
Introduction and context
NHS Lewisham CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for
persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to
arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of its local population.
From 1st September 2017 until 5th March 2019, the clinical commissioning group was subject to
directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006
as follows:

•

NHS England issued legal directions to help address long standing performance
problems with local urgent and emergency care services. Under these directions from 1st
September 2017 our responsibility for acute commissioning and contracting was
temporarily transferred to Southwark CCG. This also supported our ambitions as a CCG
and helped us address areas found to require improvement in 2016/17. High quality
healthcare and patient experience is the most important thing to Lewisham CCG and we
have worked closely with local NHS partners to ensure that patients receive the very best
standards from the NHS

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with
the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my
responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial
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propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and
complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
The CCG is governed by its constitution, signed by all the CCG’s members. The constitution
sets out the CCG’s governance structures and processes including the role of the
Governing Body and its individual members.
Each member of the Governing Body shares responsibility as part of a team to ensure that
the group exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically, with good
governance and in accordance with the terms of its constitution. Each Governing Body
member brings their unique perspective, informed by their skills, knowledge and
experience.
During the year, the Governing Body:
•

has approved the CCG’s operating plan and corporate objectives for 2018/19

•

agreed the CCG’s budgets for the year

•

approved the annual equalities report

•

approved the Risk Management and Issues Management Policies

•

approved the refreshed CCG policy on policies

•

approved the proposal to establish committees in common for the purpose of shared
assurance and common decision making in relation to collaboration, remuneration
and audit, where matters of business relate to or affect more than a single south east
London CCG

•

received an integrated performance report, with additional exception reports, through
which the Governing Body has been advised of the quality and safety of
commissioned services and other performance and financial issues.

•

received and taken assurance that strategic risks were effectively mitigated

•

agreed the principals and the process for CDOP (Child Death Overview Panel)
Transformation
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•

approved the outline business case for the care at home service

•

approved the CCG patient choice policy

•

approved the South East London Treatment Access Policy

•

ensured that all conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest were effectively managed.

Under the national CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF), the rating for the quality
of CCG leadership was ‘requires improvement’. Appropriate improvement plans were put in place
that allowed the lifting of legal directions by NHS England, while the CCG also reviewed its
relationships with key stakeholders that led to significantly improved outcomes in the annual
stakeholder survey for 2018/19.

There were six meetings of the Governing Body held in public during the year. All of the meetings
were well attended and were quorate. The table below shows the Governing Body members and
attendance record. The Governing Body and all other committees discussed below were supported
by the CCG management team, with appropriate attendance, as required.
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Members

Role

May

July

Dr Marc Rowland

CCG Chair

Y

Y

Mr Ray Warburton

Lay Member, deputy chair

Y

Y

Y

Mr Andrew Bland

Accountable Officer

Y

Y

Y

Appointment ended
30/9/18
Y
Y
Y

Mr Martin Wilkinson

Chief Officer

Y

Y

Y

Y

Mr Usman Niazi

Chief Financial Officer

Mr David Maloney

Interim Chief Financial
Officer/Director of Finance
Senior Clinical Director

Y

Y

X

X

Dr Faruk Majid

Clinical Director/ CCG Chair from
1/9/18

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Jacqueline McLeod

Senior Clinical Director

X

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Angelika Razzaque

Clinical Director

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Charles Gostling

Clinical Director/Senior Clinical
Director

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Sebastian Kalwij

Clinical Director

X

X

Y

Y

X

Y

Dr Esther Appleby

Clinical Director

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

X

Y

Dr David Abraham

Sept

Nov

Jan

Appointment ended 31/8/18

Y

Appointment started 15/2/19

Dr Ravi Sharma

Appointment
started
1/9/18
Appointment
started
1/9/18
Y
Y

Clinical Director
Ms Debbie Brown
Clinical Director

Mar

X

Y

Y
Y

Y

Y

Appointment ended 31/8/18

Ms Alison Browne

Registered Nurse

Prof Simon Mackenzie

Secondary Care Doctor

Y

Y

X

Y

X

Y

Ms Anne Hooper

Lay Member (deputy chair from
1/10/18)

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Ms Shelagh Kirkland

Lay Member

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Mr Peter Ramrayka
Dr Magna Aidoo

Lay Member

Ms Aileen Buckton

Representative, Healthwatch
Lewisham
Executive Director Community
Services, London Borough of
Lewisham

Dr Simon Parton
Dr Danny Ruta

Appointment started
15/10/18
Y
Y
Y
Y

Y

X

Y

X

Y

Lewisham LMC Chair

Y

X

X

X

Y

X

Public Health Director, London
Borough of Lewisham

X

X

X

Y

Y

Y
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Absences are normally agreed with the Chair as members are frequently required to attend other
meetings.
The CCG is a membership organisation with a federated structure. The organisational chart below
shows the governance structures in place during the financial year ending 31 March 2019.

The chart indicates the inter-relationship between membership bodies on the left (the Clinical
Directors’ Committee, Membership Forum and Neighbourhood Meetings) and the key governance
committees, headed by the Governing Body in the centre of the chart. The chart also shows the
important links with our partner organisations including the Lewisham Health and Well Being-Board.
Clinical Directors Committee
The Clinical Directors Committee is a standing Committee of Lewisham CCG, made up of the GPs
elected to the Governing Body by the CCG members and including the members of the senior
management team. It has been the high level membership body to provide a formal connection,
transacted through the Membership Forum, between the on-going business of the Governing Body
and CCG member practices. It provides a vehicle in which the Clinical Directors seek and consider
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ideas, views and concerns from members and galvanised their support and participation to deliver
the CCG’s objectives. During the year the work of the Clinical Directors Committee included:
•

influenced the development of the CCG’s strategic plans and priorities ensuring that the
membership’s views were incorporated,

•

promoted the CCG’s strategic plans with the membership ensuring engagement, support and
participation

•

reviewed the progress against the Corporate Objectives and clinical priorities

•

assessed and reviewed QIPP and new ideas to achieve the QIPP target

•

reviewed potential models for developing the local healthcare system

There were 18 meetings of the Clinical Directors Committee during the year. All of the meetings
were well attended. The table below shows the members and attendance record. The Clinical
Directors Committee was supported by the CCG management team, with appropriate attendance,
as required.
Role

Apr 5th

Apr 19th

May 3rd

May 17th

Jun 7th

Jun 21st

Jul 5th

Jul 19th

Aug 2nd

Aug 16th

Sept 6th

Oct 4th

Oct 18th

Nov 1st

Dec 6th

Jan 31st

Feb 14th

Mar 21st

Members

Dr Angelika
Razzaque

Clinical
Director

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Dr David
Abraham

Senior
Clinical
Director
Clinical
Director/
Chair
Clinical
Director

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

X

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Marc
Rowland

Chair

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Charles
Gostling

Y

Y

Y

X

X

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Dr Sebastian
Kalwij

Clinical
Director/
Senior
Clinical
Director
Clinical
Director

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Esther
Appleby

Clinical
Director

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Ravi Sharma

Clinical
Director

Appointment started 1/9/18

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Ms Debbie
Brown

Clinical
Director

Appointment started 1/9/18

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Faruk Majid

Dr Jacky
McLeod
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Appointment ended 31/8/18

Appointment ended 31/8/18

Members

Role

Apr 5th

Apr 19th

May 3rd

May 17th

Jun 7th

Jun 21st

Jul 5th

Jul 19th

Aug 2nd

Aug 16th

Sept 6th

Oct 4th

Oct 18th

Nov 1st

Dec 6th

Jan 31st

Feb 14th

Mar 21st

Mr Martin
Wilkinson

Managing
Director

X

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

X

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y
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Absences are normally agreed with the Chair as members are frequently required to
attend other meetings.
Audit Committee
The committee was established to take an independent and objective view of the
CCG’s financial systems, compliance with laws and compliance with best practice in
its arrangements for corporate governance.
The committee has reflected on its work and had agreed that it goes about its
business in an organised, inclusive and accountable way. In 2018/19:
•

its work programme followed a plan agreed at the start of the year

•

it makes it clear to CCG management and staff what is required from them in
the preparation and running of meetings

•

it meets in a private session with the CCG’s independent assurance providers
at the end of each meeting

•

it reported the headlines of each meeting to the Governing Body, and minutes
have also been provided when they have been confirmed

During the year, the work of the Audit Committee included:
•

approved the 2017/18 CCG Annual Report and Annual Accounts on behalf of
the Governing Body

•

received the Head of Internal Audit Opinion for 2017/18

•

approved the Internal Audit plan for 2018/19 and commented on the reports of
the reviews

•

reviewed Service Auditor Reports

•

approved the Counter Fraud Work Plan for 2018/19 and commented on
progress

•

scrutinised and advised on the format and content of the Board Assurance
Framework,

•

considered the CCG’s financial planning and governance self assessment
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•

Reviewed the CCG’s self-assessment against the Counter Fraud NHS
Standards for Commissioners and was updated on work undertaken since the
assessment

•

Reviewed the local security management workplan for 2018/19 and
commented on progress

•

Submitted an Annual Report of its work for 2017/18 to the Governing Body.

There were six meetings of the Audit Committee during the year. The table below
shows the members and attendance record. The Audit Committee was supported by
the CCG management team, with appropriate attendance, as required. The interim
Chief Financial Officer was in attendance at all the meetings.
Members

Role

Apr

May

Jul

Oct

Jan

Y

Marc
h
Appointment ended
30/9/18
Y
Y
Y

Mr Ray Warburton

Y

Y

Y

Ms Anne Hooper

Lay Member (committee
chair)
Lay Member

Y

X

Ms Shelagh
Kirkland
Mr Peter Ramrayka

Lay Member (committee
chair from October)
Lay Member

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Secondary Care Doctor

Appointment started
15/10/18
Y
Y
X

Prof Simon
MacKenzie
Dr Jacky McLeod

X

X

X

Senior Clinical Director

X

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Absences are normally agreed with the Chair as members are frequently required to
attend other meetings.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations on the
terms and conditions, remuneration and travelling or other allowances for Governing
Body members, including pensions and gratuities in addition to the terms and
conditions of employment for all employees on Very Senior Manager (VSM) grades.
During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed levels of remuneration for
Governing Body members and agency spend, and reviewed a proposal for a
redundancy payment . There were two meetings of the Remuneration Committee
during the year. The table below shows the members and attendance record. The
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Remuneration Committee was supported by the CCG management team, with
appropriate attendance, as required. Due process was followed when conflicts of
interest occurred during meetings.
Members

Role

Mr Ray Warburton
Ms Anne Hooper
Ms Shelagh
Kirkland
Mr Peter
Ramrayka
Prof Simon
MacKenzie

July

November

Lay Member
(committee chair)
Lay Member

Y
Y

Appointment
ended 30/9/18
Y

Lay Member
(committee chair from
October)
Lay Member

Y

Y

Appointment
started
15/10/18
Y

Y

Secondary Care Doctor

Y

Absences are normally agreed with the Chair as members are frequently required to
attend other meetings.
Strategy and Development Workshop
The Strategy and Development Workshop was established to set and maintain the
CCG’s strategic direction for commissioning and to develop formal strategic and
operational plans for approval by the Governing Body.
There were five meetings of the Strategy and Development Committee during the
year. The table below shows the members and attendance record. The Strategy
and Development Committee was supported by the CCG management team, with
appropriate attendance, as required.
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Members

Role

Jun

Aug

Dr David Abraham

Y

Y

Dr Marc Rowland

Senior Clinical Director
(committee chair)
CCG Chair

Y

Y

Mr Ray Warburton

Lay Member

Y

Y

Mr Andrew Bland

Accountable Officer

Y

Y

Mr Martin
Wilkinson
Mr David Maloney

Chief Officer

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Interim Chief Financial
Officer/ Director of Finance
Clinical Director/ CCG
Chair
Senior Clinical Director
Clinical Director

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Clinical Director

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Esther Appleby

Clinical Director

X

X

Y

X

X

Dr Charles Gostling

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Ravi Sharma

Clinical Director/Senior
Clinical Director (committee
chair from October)
Clinical Director

Y

X

X

Ms Debbie Brown

Clinical Director

Y

Y

Y

Ms Anne Hooper

Lay Member

Y

Y

Y

Ms Shelagh
Kirkland
Ms Alison Browne

Lay Member

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Registered Nurse/Director
of Nursing & Quality
Secondary Care Doctor

X

Y

X

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Dr Faruk Majid
Dr Jacky McLeod
Dr Angelika
Razzaque
Dr Sebastian Kalwij

Prof Simon
Mackenzie
Mr Peter Ramrayka
Mr Charles
Malcolm-Smith

Lay Member
Deputy Director (Strategy &
Organisation Development)

Appointment
started
1/9/19
Appointment
started
1/9/19
Y
Y

Oct

Dec

Feb

Appointment ended
31/8/18
Appointment ended
31/8/18
Appointment ended
30/9/18
X
X
X

Appointment started
15/10/19
Y
Y
Y

Absences are normally agreed with the Chair as members are frequently required to
attend other meetings.
During the year, the work of the Strategy and Development Workshop included:
•

reviewed the workforce issues impacting on local services
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•

received an overview of and give feedback on the short and longer term plans
in place to address identified workforce issues

•

reviewing proposals for cuts in public health services

•

receiving plans child and adolescents mental health services transformation

•

reviewing the CCG’s progress against the Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
goals and the public sector equalities duties

•

receiving the outcomes of the CCG stakeholder and staff surveys and
organisational development plans

Integrated Governance Committee
The Integrated Governance Committee was established to monitor the performance
of commissioned health services in all aspects and to monitor delivery of our
operational plans in year. The committee reviewed our position against key
performance, quality and financial metrics, and identified mitigating steps where
delivery was off-track.
The Integrated Governance Committee received reports from a number of
subgroups to monitor performance against plans in detail and these included groups
to monitor quality and information governance.
There were 10 meetings of the Integrated Governance Committee during the year.
The table below shows the members and attendance record. The Integrated
Governance Committee was supported by the CCG management team with
appropriate attendance as required.
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Members

Role

Mr Martin
Wilkinson

Managing
Director
(committee
chair)
Director of
Commissionin
g & Primary
Care
Director of
Nursing and
Quality
Head of Joint
Commissionin
g
Secondary
Care Doctor

Ms Diana
Braithwaite

Ms Alison
Browne
Ms Dee
Carlin
Professor
Simon
MacKenzie
Dr Sebastian
Kalwij
Dr Jacky
McLeod
Dr Angelika
Razzaque
Mr David
Maloney
Mr Ray
Warburton
Ms Shelagh
Kirkland
Mr Peter
Ramrayka

Apr

Jun

Y

Ma
y
Y

Sep

Oct

Nov

Jan

Feb

Mar

Y

Au
g
Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

X

X

X

X

X

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

X

Y

X

X

X

Y

Y

X

X

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

X

Clinical
Director
Senior Clinical
Director
Clinical
Director
Director of
Finance
Lay Member

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

X

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

X

Y

X

Y

X

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

x

Y

Y

Y

Appointment ended 30/9/19

Lay Member

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Lay Member

Appointment started 15/10/18

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Absences are normally agreed with the Chair as members are frequently required to
attend other meetings.
During the year the work of the Integrated Governance Committee included:
•

receiving the Corporate Objectives priorities for action for 2018/19

•

monitoring the Board Assurance Framework against the achievement of the
Corporate Objectives

•

receiving performance and exception reports against the NHS Constitutional
Standards, and in particular ensuring actions are undertaken on A&E
performance, cancer waiting times, and referral to treatment times

•

monitoring financial performance
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•

monitoring performance of QIPP projects

•

approved the self assessment against the NHS England Core Standards for
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) and Business
Continuity Plan

•

received updates from the South East London Integrated Governance &
Performance Committee

Finance and Investment Committee
The purpose of the Finance and Investment Committee is to maintain a detailed
overview of the CCG’s assets and resources in relation to the achievement of
financial targets and business objectives and the financial stability of the CCG. This
includes:
•

overseeing the development and maintenance of the CCG’s financial strategy

•

reviewing and monitoring financial plans and their link to operational
performance and quality

•

overseeing financial risk evaluation, measurement and management

•

scrutiny and approval of business cases and oversight of the capital
programme

•

maintaining oversight of the key financial policies and other financial issues
that may arise

There were 5 meetings of the Finance and Investment Committee during the year.
The table below shows the members and attendance record.
Members

Role

Prof Simon
MacKenzie
Ms Alison
Browne
Mr Ray
Warburton
Ms Shelagh
Kirkland
Mr Peter
Ramrayka
Dr David
Abraham
Dr Jacky
McLeod

Jun

Sept

Nov

Feb

Mar

Secondary Care
Doctor
(committee chair)
Registered
Nurse
Lay Member

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Lay Member

Y

Y

Lay Member
Senior Clinical
Director
Senior Clinical
Director

Appointment started
15/10/18
Appointment
Y
ended
31/8/18
Y
X
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Appointment ended 30/9/18
Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Dr Charles
Gostling
Mr Martin
Wilkinson
Mr David
Maloney

Senior Clinical
Director
Managing
Director
Director of
Finance

Change in
role 1/9/18
Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Absences are normally agreed with the Chair as members are frequently required to
attend other meetings.
During the year the committee:
•

considered contract extension for the GP extended access service

•

received proposals for development of the Waldron Health Centre estate

•

Assessed and discussed the QIPP Pipeline

•

Considered the Planning Guidance for 2019/20

Public Engagement and Equalities Forum
The Public Engagement and Equalities Forum was established in 2016/17 in order to
strengthen engagement in the CCG, support assurance for the Governing Body, and
to monitor its impact on the work of the organisation. Equalities aspects in public
engagement are also a major consideration for the group.

There were 6 meetings of the Public Engagement & Equalities Forum during the
year. The table below shows the members and attendance record.
Members

Role

Ms Anne
Hooper
Dr Angelika
Razzaque

Lay Member
(committee chair)

Mr Charles
Malcolm-Smith

Deputy Director

Dr Faruk Majid
Dr Ravi
Sharma
Ms Folake
Segun

Clinical Director

Mr Russell
Cartwright

Clinical Director

Apr

July

Aug

Oct

Dec

Feb

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

X

X

X

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

X

(Strategy & OD)

Clinical Director
Healthwatch
Representative
Head of
Communications
&Engagement

Appointment started 1/9/18

Change role 1/9/18
Y

Y

X

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y
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Absences are normally agreed with the Chair as members are frequently required to
attend other meetings.
During the year the Forum:
•

reviewed the public engagement priorities for 2018/19.

•

Reviewed the engagement plans for the Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham
interpreting and translation service review

•

Reviewed the outcomes of engagement events focusing on health inequalities
and BAME mental health, frailty, and ‘working together for a healthier
Lewisham’

•

Reviewed the plans for the CCG Annual General Meeting

Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee was established in accordance with
statutory provisions from NHS England to enable the membership of the committee
to make collective decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary
care services in Lewisham, under delegated authority from NHS England.
There were 6 meetings of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee during the
year. The table below shows the ‘voting’ members and attendance record.
Members

Role

Ms Shelagh
Kirkland

Ms Anne
Hooper
Mr Ray
Warburton
Mr Peter
Ramrayka

Dr Marc
Rowland
Dr Faruk Majid
Dr Jacqueline
McLeod
Dr Sebastian
Kalwij

Apr

Jun

Jul

Aug

Oct

Feb

Lay Member
(committee
chair until
October)
Lay Member

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Lay Member

Y

X

Y

Y

Lay Member
(committee
chair from
Feb)
CCG Chair
Clinical
Director/Chair
Senior Clinical
Director
Clinical
Director

Appointment started 15/10/19

Appointment
ended 30/9/18
Y
Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Joined committee from October

X

Y
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Appointment
ended 31/8/18
X
Y

Ms Alison
Browne
Mr Martin
Wilkinson
Mr David
Maloney
Ms Diana
Braithwaite

Registered
Nurse Member
Managing
Director
Director of
Finance
Director of
Commissionin
g & Primary
Care

X

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

X

Y

X

Y

Y

X

Y

Y

Y

During the year the Primary Care Commissioning Care Committee
•

approved the revised London Primary Care Operating Model for how NHS
England (London) region’s STP primary care teams contracting teams will
consistently support CCGs with joint or delegated co-commissioning
arrangements

•

Approve the revised commissioning intentions for the PMS premium

•

approve the draft Local Improvement Scheme (LIS) for 2018/19

•

approved arrangements for business mergers between practices

•

approved the Lewisham CCG Medicines Optimisation Plan 2018/19.

•

Received the report on the final review and assurance of the mitigations
implemented as a consequence of the expiry of the NHS Walk-in Centre, New
Cross

Full meeting papers for 2018/19 can be found on our website
UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However,
we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best
practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code
we consider to be relevant to the CCG and best practice.
Discharge of Statutory Functions
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning
group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and
regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear
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about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for
which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
In line with good practice, we have adopted a risk management process which has
been

designed

to

provide

continuous

identification,

assessment,

control,

communication and monitoring of risk with clear escalation processes. When faced by
risks, we take a positive and controlled approach to risk management, acceptable to
the Governing Body, as described below.
Risks to achieving our objectives and business plans were identified at project or
programme board meetings, at assurance committees when inadequate or no
assurances were given or at routine business meetings.

Wherever a risk was

identified the escalation route was the same.
Project and programme risks were assessed and managed at the project or
programme management level. Where risks were considered to have an impact on
our corporate objectives, these were escalated to the Risk Management Group. The
role of the Risk Management Group has been to:
•

review and evaluate new and amended risks and instruct that the Risk Register
is updated accordingly

•

review the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) by scrutinising the existing
controls and assurances ensuring that the register is an accurate summary of
the risks to the organisation.

“Risk owners” at Director or senior manager level were assigned to all risks and risk
owners have been responsible for identifying controls and actions to mitigate risks to
target levels. Controls have included the development of policies, for example for the
management of conflicts of interest, mandatory training programmes, or actions to
mitigate risks to achieving our corporate objectives. All this information has been

102

collated over the year in the Board Assurance Framework which is discussed at each
meeting of the Governing Body.
The management of risk is the duty of all staff, inclusive of the reporting of incidents
and near-misses in accordance with the policies and procedures in place.

All

managers are accountable for the day-to-day management of risks within their areas
of responsibility, ensuring assessments are undertaken and risk registers updated as
appropriate. Directors are responsible for providing risk management leadership and
sponsorship across the CCG.
The risk controls in place, enable us to determine whether the risks are being managed
effectively through:
•

policies, procedures and guidelines

•

training and staff development

•

equipment and facilities

•

staff competency

•

induction programme

•

any other measures deemed necessary

The Board Assurance Framework has been reviewed with the Audit Committee, the
Integrated Governance Committee and Governing Body members.
Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is a core part of policy, strategy and project
development within Lewisham CCG. The NHS Lewisham CCG Policy on Policies
ensures that there is a regulated approach to the development of policies and
procedural documents. It is a policy requirement for that all policy and procedural
documents developed by the CCG describe how they meet the Public Sector Equality
Duty.
As a key partner, Healthwatch Lewisham provided a representative voice of patients
from the many diverse communities in Lewisham into our risk management processes.
Their involvement in the CCG structure included membership of our Public
Engagement and Equalities Forum and our Integrated Governance Committee, which
reviewed ‘quality’ in respect of patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient
experience of the services we commissioned for our population.
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Risk Assessment
Our Risk Management Framework sets out our risk assessment process and is based
on the National Patient Safety Advice (NPSA) guidance and aligned to the adopted
internationally recognised AS/NZS 4360:1999 guideline which provides a model for
identifying, assessing and controlling risks. Further information on how the CCG
manages the principles of Risk Management, can be found under the Risk
Management Framework section above.
Risks in relation to governance, risk management and internal control were identified
and evaluated by the Risk Management Group early in the year. These risks have
been incorporated into the Governing Body Board Assurance Framework (BAF) and
the CCG’s Risk Register for scrutiny.
The BAF broadly provides assurance of the controls in place that mitigate the risks
that may prevent Lewisham CCG meeting its annual Strategic Objectives. The ‘heat
map’ below is used to show the distribution of all the 39 risks on the CCG Risk
Register. Throughout 2018/19 the Governing Body has received detailed reports of
the controls in place, assurances given and further actions being taken to manage or
mitigate those risks that have a residual score of 12 or above (score of Likelihood
multiplied by Impact). These reports are contained within the papers for our Governing
Body meetings (found on our website here)

During the 2018/19, five risks were assessed at the end of the year to have a ‘very
high’ rating in March 2019.
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These were:
•

Cancer waiting times: CCG will not achieve the improvement trajectory for
meeting the access to cancer treatment as measured by the standard for 62
days from GP referral to treatment

•

A&E System wide delivery: The improvement programme across Lewisham,
Greenwich and Bexley local system does not deliver the anticipated outcomes
for our patients and local populations at the pace required.

•

Financial delivery: QIPP - Planning for 2018/19 and 2019/20 If the CCG does
not deliver a credible two year QIPP Programme this will jeopardise delivery
of the financial control total for future years.

•

Planned Care: Risk that the number of long waiters (more than 52 wks) is not
half (or less than) the level at March 2019 that at March 2018

•

Continuing Health Care: The NHSE target for CHC Assessments completed
in non-acute settings is not delivered and the CCG is not assured by NHS
England

In response to these risk ratings the Governing Body received detailed action plans
for how the CCG would work in conjunction with partners to reduce them.

The ‘heatmap’ tables below show the distribution of all risks identified through the
Corporate Risk Register, using “current risk score”, comparing the initial assessment
of risk made in Quarter 1 (April-June 2018) to that made at the end of the year in
Quarter 4 (January-March 2019).
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2018/19 Q1 Risk Assessment

L
i
k
e
l
i
h
o
o
d

Almost
Certain
5
Likely
4
No of Risks = 1
Risk ID: 59

Possible
3
Unlikely
2
Rare
1
Risk Matrix

No of Risks = 1 No of Risks = 5
Risk ID: 99
Risk ID: 8, 13, 78,
83, 101
No of Risks = 6 No of Risks = 4
Risk ID: 63, 41,
Risk ID: 77,
21, 38, 92, 30
90,93, 100
No of Risks = 3
Risk ID: 39, 22,25

Negligible
1

Total Number of Risks =

Minor
2

Moderate
3
Impact

Major
4

Catastrophic
5

20

2018/19 Q4 Risk Assessment
Almost
Certain
5

No of Risks = 1
Risk ID: 99

Likely
4
Likelihood

Possible
3
No of Risks =
1
Risk ID: 59

Unlikely
2
Rare
1
Risk Matrix

Negligible
1

Minor
2

No of Risks = 1
Risk ID: 92

No of Risks = 4
Risk ID: 8, 78,
83, 103

No of Risks = 4
Risk ID: 21, 30,
102, 104

No of Risks = 2
Risk ID: 77, 100

No of Risks = 5
Risk ID: 22, 25,
38, 41, 63

No of Risks = 3
Risk ID: 13, 90,
101

No of Risks = 1
Risk ID: 39

No of Risks = 1
Risk ID: 93

Moderate
3

Major
4

Impact
Total Number of Risks = 23
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Catastrophic
5

This demonstrates that during the year, the CCG assessed that the number of risks to
the achievement of its corporate objectives increased.

A number of these risks did

decrease during the year, but the environment that the CCG was working in relation
to the performance of our main acute providers and the financial position, resulted in
five risks remaining at a very high level.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
The chart below illustrates how risks have been identified and escalated through the
organisation to the Governing Body. The bottom of the chart includes a table which
shows the type of risk, shown here as the “risk category,” the committee or work group
where detailed review of the risk and controls took place and the main assurance
committee that held oversight of the risk. The main body of the chart shows how risks
are escalated to the Governing Body.

107

Governing Body

Corporate Risk Register
includes
all “high” and “very high”
risks

Exception Reports for new
and “very high” risks

Board Assurance Framework Includes all
“high” and “very high” risks mapped to
corporate objectives

Risk Management Group reviews
entire corporate Risk Register and
exception reports & escalates “very
high” risks exception reports to
Governing Body

Exception reports prepared for
Risk Management Group for all new
risks

Project and Programme Risks
recorded on project and
Programme Risk Registers

Project and Programme Risks
Identified and assessed at
Project and Programme
Boards

Risks to corporate objectives identified
At groups and committees undertaking
detailed review

Directorate or team risk registers
Include all “moderate” or “low” risks

Risk Owners review risk controls,
Assurances and actions monthly

Risk category

Detailed Review

Main Assurance Committee

Change / Transition
Clinical and Quality

Programme Management Meeting
Clinical Quality Review Group
Public Engagement and Equalities Forum
Core Contract Meetings
Patient Safety Advisory Groups
NHS Lewisham CCG Health Safeguarding Group
Pharmacy and Medicines Management Committee
Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Senior Management Team
Finance and Investment Committee
Senior Management Team
Information Governance Steering Group
Senior Management Team

Integrated Governance Committee
Integrated Governance Committee

Senior Management Team
Core Contract Meetings
Senior Management Team
Public Engagement and Equalities Forum
Senior Management Team
Strategy and Development Committee

Integrated Governance Committee
Integrated Governance Committee
Integrated Governance Committee
Integrated Governance Committee

Environmental
Financial
Governance
Information Governance
Information Management &
Technology
Operations
Partnership and Contractual
People
Representation
Strategic

Integrated Governance Committee
Integrated Governance Committee
Integrated Governance Committee
Integrated Governance Committee
Integrated Governance Committee

Integrated Governance Committee (in year)
Health and Well Being Board

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published
June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
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An audit of Conflicts of Interest at Lewisham CCG was undertaken as part of the
approved Internal Audit periodic plan for 2018/19 and found that there was substantial
assurance.
A conflict of interests (CoI) is "a set of circumstances by which a reasonable person
would consider that an individual's ability to apply judgement or act, in the context of
delivering, commissioning, or assuring taxpayer funded health and care services is, or
could be, impaired or influenced by another interest they hold". It is therefore important
the CCG acts proactively to manage interests, both potential and actual, to give the
public confidence that any decisions made by the CCG are fair and transparent.
Lewisham CCG updated its Conflicts of Interest Policy in August 2017 in accordance
with the NHSE Managing CoI: Revised Statutory Guidance for CCGs which was
published in June 2017. The policy applies to all CCG staff, Governing Body (GB)
members and GP partners, and outlines the roles and responsibilities, and processes
and arrangements in place for managing conflicts of interests.
A Conflicts of Interest Guardian is in place at the CCG who is a Lay Member of the
Governing Body and also holds the position of Chair of the Audit Committee. This
position was held by Ray Warburton until September 2018 and then by Shelagh
Kirkland. There are three lay members on the CCG Governing Body whose roles are
to provide an independent voice in the decision-making process.
It is a requirement of all CCG staff, GB members and GP Partners to declare any
conflicts of interests at the beginning of their appointment and regularly (annually or
where circumstances change); a Register of Interest (ROI) is maintained to capture
these centrally. Furthermore, declarations of interest are a standing agenda item at
the beginning of the GB and all Committee meetings. The CCG further maintains a
Register of Gifts and Hospitality and a Procurement Opportunities Awards Register.
To make staff across the CCGs more aware of their duty to make true declarations,
NHS England has developed a mandatory online training module that was launched
in January 2018 and was completed by 95% of CCG staff by the end of May 2018.
Data Quality
In line with the need to know principles set out in the Caldicott 2 Information
Governance Review Report, the CCG ensures that information presented to the
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Governing Body and other governance forums does not identify individuals and is fully
anonymised.
Senior management diligently reviews information to be set out in governance and
decision making information prior to consideration and presentation to the relevant
governance forums.
The quality of information that the Governing Body and other governance forums
receive to consider and direct decision making is also assured through the service
level specification arrangements with the North East London Commissioning Support
Unit and the use of contractual arrangements with the commissioned providers.
Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We
have established an information governance management framework and are
developing / have developed information governance processes and procedures in
line with the information governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake
annual information governance training and have implemented a staff information
governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance roles
and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents.

We are developing information risk assessment and management

procedures and a programme will be established to fully embed an information risk
culture throughout the organisation against identified risks.
A Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) is accountable for leading the information
risk culture and approach of the CCG has been put in place in line with NHS
requirements. The Managing Director of the CCG fulfils the SIRO role.
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The Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO) is responsible for:
•

Understanding how the strategic business goals of the CCG may be impacted
by information risks: acting as an advocate for information risks on the
Governing Body and in internal discussions

•

Ensuring the Governing Body is adequately briefed on information risk issues

•

Overseeing the development of an Information Risk Policy, and a strategy for
implementing the policy within the CCG’s Information Governance Framework

•

Reviewing the annual information risk assessment to support and inform the
Annual Governance Statement

•

Taking ownership of risk assessment processes for information risks,
supported by the Information Governance Manager, Information Security Lead,
Records Manager and the Caldicott Guardian

•

Reviewing and agreeing action in respect of identified information risks.

•

Providing a focal point for the resolution and/or discussion of information risk
issues

A separate Caldicott Guardian role also acts as the conscience of the organisation
regarding confidentiality and privacy matters affecting individual persons and to avoid
a potential conflict of interest with the organisational responsibilities of the SIRO. The
Director of Nursing & Quality fulfils the Caldicott Guardian role.
For the year 2018/19 the CCG has satisfied the requirements of the Information
Governance Toolkit and achieved an overall score of 94%, compared to the 100%
score in 2017/18.
Business Critical Models
NHS England recognises the importance of quality assurance across the full range of
its analytical work. In partnership with analysts in the Department of Health we have
developed an approach that is fully consistent with the recommendations in Sir
Nicholas Macpherson's review of quality assurance of government models. The
framework includes a programme of mandatory workshops for NHS England analysts,
which highlights the importance of quality assurance across the full range of analytical
work.
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The Macpherson Report on the review of quality assurance (QA) of Government
Analytical Models set out the components of best practice in QA making eight key
recommendations. We recognise the importance of this and have been working with
partners to ensure appropriate quality assurance processes are in place across its
analytical work.
For 2018/19 we have continued to work with other CCGs and NHS providers in south
east London, as part of the Our Healthier South East London Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP), to develop and maintain the strategic business and
financial modelling. The modelling is led through the STP Director or Financial
Strategy who reports back to the South East London provider and commissioner Chief
Financial Officer group, which is represented by all NHS organisations within the
STP. The output of the financial modelling is reviewed by a varied number of
stakeholders from different disciplines, both internal and external, and underpins the
financial opportunities of the impacts of service changes over a five year period.
Locally, we have developed a number of business and financial models which
underpin areas such as local financial planning, QIPP delivery and service
transformation. The identified senior responsible officer is the Chief Financial Officer,
who ensures that there are effective processes underpinning the modelling, including
appropriate guidance, documentation and training, as well as sharing best practice.
This includes ensuring that appropriate assurance processes are in place to govern
the robustness of any modelling.

Control Issues
No significant internal control issues have been identified

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of
resources
In year monitoring of performance against our plans, in terms of quality, finance and
other performance standards (e.g. NHS constitutional standards) has been carried out
by our Integrated Governance Committee. This includes assuring that projects and
programmes are delivering economic, effective and high quality services.
The Governing Body’s scrutiny over finance, investment and procurement is
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strengthened through the Finance and Investment Committee.

The Committee

oversees the CCG’s capital expenditure, investment decisions and associated
procurements and management of financial risk.
Under the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework indicators leadership
ratings are reviewed on a quarterly basis, the latest available results show that the
CCG is amber for the Quality of Leadership. Year end results for the Improvement
and Assessment Framework are published by NHS England.

Counter fraud arrangements
We contract an Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist to provide the full range of anticrime work that is proportionate to the risks identified and fully compliant with the NHS
Standards for Commissioners. The annual work-plan is developed from risks
identified through the counter fraud risk assessment and discussions with key staff
within the CCG. The annual work-plan is agreed with the Chief Financial Officer and
ratified by the Audit Committee. Progress is regularly reported to the Chief Financial
Officer and the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews the results of the CCG
annual

self-assessment

against

the

NHS

Counter

Fraud

Standards

for

Commissioners. The Audit Committee monitors progress on remedial actions against
areas of non-compliance or following an NHS Protect Quality Inspection.

The Accredited Counter Fraud specialists also delivered training to staff, which
complies with the CCG Mandatory Training requirements.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit is required to
provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work performed, on the overall adequacy
and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and governance processes. The
opinion should contribute to the organisation's annual governance statement.

The opinion
For the 12 months ended 31 March 2019, the head of internal audit opinion for
Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group is as follows:
Head of internal audit opinion 2018/19

Please see appendix A for the full range of annual opinions available to us in
preparing this report and opinion.
Scope and limitations of our work
The formation of our opinion is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed
with management and approved by the audit committee, our opinion is subject to
inherent limitations, as detailed below:
•

the opinion does not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and
assurances relating to the organisation;

•

the opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans
generated from a robust and organisation-led assurance framework. As such,
the assurance framework is one component that the board takes into account
in making its annual governance statement (AGS);
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•

the opinion is based on the findings and conclusions from the work
undertaken, the scope of which has been agreed with management;

•

the opinion is based on the testing we have undertaken, which was limited to
the area being audited, as detailed in the agreed audit scope;

•

where strong levels of control have been identified, there are still instances
where these may not always be effective. This may be due to human error,
incorrect management judgement, management override, controls being bypassed or a reduction in compliance;

•

due to the limited scope of our audits, there may be weaknesses in the control
system which we are not aware of, or which were not brought to our attention;
and

•

it remains management’s responsibility to develop and maintain a sound
system of risk management, internal control and governance, and for the
prevention and detection of material errors, loss or fraud. The work of internal
audit should not be seen as a substitute for management responsibility
around the design and effective operation of these systems.
Factors and findings which have informed our opinion

Based on the work undertaken in 2018/19, there is a generally sound system of
internal control, designed to meet the CCG’s objectives, and controls are generally
being applied consistently. The reports issued following our internal audit reviews
have received Substantial or Reasonable assurance opinions and have not identified
any significant control issues.
•

Performance Management – Reasonable Assurance;

•

Conflicts of Interest – Substantial Assurance;

•

Risk Management and Assurance Framework – Reasonable Assurance;

•

Sustainability Plan – Design of Controls, Substantial Assurance;
Effectiveness, Reasonable Assurance;
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•

Financial Management and QIPP Benefits Realisation – Design of Controls,
Substantial Assurance; Effectiveness, Reasonable Assurance

•

Primary Care Commissioning (joint SEL review) – Reasonable Assurance

•

Governance (joint SEL review) – Reasonable Assurance

We also conducted an Assurance Mapping exercise and have issued an advisory
report in relation to the Data Security and Protection (DSP) Toolkit review.
Whilst no significant control issues were identified as part of any of the
abovementioned reviews, we have identified some areas for improvement and where
those were highlighted, we have agreed actions with management with agreed
deadlines for implementation. These are followed up on a regular basis and their
status reported to each meeting of the Audit Committee.
A summary of internal audit work undertaken, and the resulting conclusions, is
provided at appendix B.
Topics judged relevant for consideration as part of the annual
governance statement
Based on the work we have undertaken on the CCG’s system on internal control, we
do not consider that within these areas there are any issues that need to be flagged
as significant control issues within the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The
CCG may wish to consider whether any other issues have arisen, including the
results of any external reviews which it might want to consider for inclusion in the
Annual Governance Statement. It may also choose to mention that for part of the
year, the CCG operated under special measures, although these were lifted in March
2019.
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Appendix A: Annual opinions
The following shows the full range of opinions available to us within our internal audit
methodology to provide you with context regarding your annual internal audit
opinion.
Annual opinions

Factors influencing
our opinion
The factors which are
considered when influencing
our opinion are:
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•

inherent risk in the
area being audited;

•

limitations in the
individual audit
assignments;

•

the adequacy and
effectiveness of the
risk management
and / or governance
control framework;

•

the impact of
weakness identified;

•

the level of risk
exposure; and

•

the response to
management actions
raised and
timeliness of actions
taken.

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Performance Management

Reasonable Assurance

Conflicts of Interest

Substantial Assurance

Risk Management
Framework

and

Assurance Reasonable Assurance

Sustainability Plan

Design of Controls – Substantial
Assurance
Effectiveness - Reasonable Assurance

Financial Management and QIPP
Benefits Realisation

Design of Controls - Substantial
Assurance

Effectiveness - Reasonable Assurance
Primary Care Commissioning (joint SEL Reasonable Assurance
review)
Governance (joint SEL review)

Reasonable Assurance
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk
management and internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work
of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available
to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their
annual audit letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles
objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee and Risk
Management Group and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system is in place.
The Governing Body and Audit Committee have provided regular feedback on the
completeness and effectiveness of our systems of internal control via their comments
and feedback on the completeness of the Board Assurance Framework.
An internal audit review of risk management and the BAF has concluded that there
was ‘reasonable assurance’. The review looked at the entirety of the BAF and
confirmed that all eight risks were appropriately detailed, with adequate controls and
assurances in place to mitigate the risk, and also confirmed that each risk is linked to
one of the Corporate Objectives listed above. The report also suggested that
including a cause and effect section in the BAF risks would provide more focused
controls to alleviate the risk.
Conclusion
In conclusion I confirm that no significant internal control issues have been identified.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprised four and met on two occasions during the
past year. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for approving the terms and
conditions, remuneration and travelling or other allowances for Governing Body
members, including pensions and gratuities in addition to the terms and conditions of
employment for all employees on Very Senior Manager (VSM) grades.
Chair of the committee was Mr Ray Warburton until 30th September and then Shelagh
Kirkland, both Lay Members of the CCG’s Governing Body. A full list of members, their
roles and the number of meetings each attended is below.
Members

Role

Mr Ray Warburton
Ms Anne Hooper
Ms Shelagh
Kirkland
Mr Peter
Ramrayka
Prof Simon
MacKenzie

July

November

Lay Member
(committee chair)
Lay Member

Y
Y

Appointment
ended 30/9/18
Y

Lay Member
(committee chair from
October)
Lay Member

Y

Y

Appointment
started
15/10/18
Y

Y

Secondary Care Doctor

Y

In addition to the members listed above, the following CCG employees provided the
committee with services and/or advice which was material to the committee’s
deliberations.
Name
Mr Martin Wilkinson
Mrs Lesley Aitken
Mr Charles Malcolm-Smith

Role
Chief Officer
Board Secretary
Deputy Director (Strategy &
OD)

Service
Advice
Administration
Advice

The following individuals who are not employees of the CCG also provided services
and/or advice to the committee. They are employees of NHS England at North East
London Commissioning Support Unit and provide specialist Human Resources
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support to the CCG as part of commissioning support service level agreement agreed
with CCGs in south London. The CCG paid North East London Commissioning
Support Unit £89.5k for Human Resources support in 2018/19.
Name
Mr David KreikmeierWatson

Role
HR Business Partner

Service
Advice

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The Committee’s deliberations are carried out within the context of national pay and
remuneration guidelines, local comparability and taking account of independent advice
regarding pay structures.
The CCG’s remuneration policy is consistent with nationally agreed pay awards for
very senior managers and Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions of Employment.
The Remuneration Committee assesses the performance of staff employed on Very
Senior Manager (VSM) Pay in line with the VSM Framework, comparable
benchmarking and local pay arrangements and agrees proposed performance
assessment ratings. This policy is applicable for future years until any such time as a
new policy is agreed and implemented.
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
The CCG does not have a policy of performance related pay for senior managers.
There are no senior managers of the CCG paid more than £150,000 per annum.
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements)
(audited)
2018/19
Name and Title

(a)
Salary & Fees
(bands of £5,000)

(b)
Expense Payments
(taxable)
to nearest £100*

(c)
Performance pay and
bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
£000

(d)
Long term
performance pay and
bonuses (bands of
£5,000)
£000

(e)
All pension-related
benefits
(bands of £2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of £5,000)

£000

£00

£000

£000

Bland A

Mr Andrew Bland, Accountable Officer**

25 - 30

0

0

25 - 30

Wilkinson MA

Mr Martin Wilkinson, Managing Director

110 - 115

20

5 - 7.5

120 - 125

0-5

0

0

0-5

60 - 65

0

2.5 - 5

70 - 75

40 - 42.5

160 - 165

Niazi U

Mr Usman Niazi, South East London Chief Financial Officer***

Maloney DJ

Mr David Maloney, Director of Finance****

Braithwaite DE

Ms Diana Braithwaite, Director of Commissioning & Primary
Care

120 - 125

0

Browne AC

Ms Alison Browne, Director of Nursing and Quality /
Registered Nurse Member

65 - 70

1

65 - 70

Rowland RM

Dr Marc Rowland, Chair of the Governing Body*****

25 - 30

0

25 - 30

Majid F

Dr Faruk Majid, Chair of the Governing Body******

65 - 70

0

65 - 70

Abraham DM

Dr David Abraham, Senior Clinical Director*******

20 - 25

0

20 - 25

Gostling A

Dr Charles Gostling, Senior Clinical Director / Clinical Director

50 - 55

0

50 - 55

McLeod JA

Dr Jacqueline McLeod, Senior Clinical Director

55 - 60

0

55 - 60

Sharma R

Dr Ravi Sharma, Clinical Director from 1st November 2018

20 - 25

0

20 - 25

Brown DH

Ms Debbie Brown, Clinical Director from 1st October 2018

35 - 40

0

35 - 40

Razzaque A

Dr Angelika Razzaque, Clinical Director

40 - 45

0

40 - 45

Kalwij SA

Dr Seb Kalwij, Clinical Director

40 - 45

0

40 - 45

Appleby EL

Dr Esther Appleby, Clinical Director

40 - 45

0

40 - 45

Mackenzie S

Prof Simon Mackenzie, Secondary Care Doctor Member

20 - 25

0

20 - 25

Hooper A

Ms Anne Hooper, Lay Member

10 - 15

0

10 - 15

Kirkland S

Ms Shelagh Kirkland, Lay Member

10 - 15

0

10 - 15

Warburton R

Mr Ray Warburton, Lay Member until 30th September 2018

5 - 10

0

5 - 10

Ramrayka P

Mr Peter Ramrayka, Lay Member from 1st October 2018

5 - 10

0

5 - 10

* Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100. These include reimbursement of travel and course/training costs.
**Andrew Bland has been the Accountable Officer for Southwark CCG since April 2013. He took over the Accountable Officer role for Bexley CCG since 5 February 2018 and that for
Greenwich, Lewisham and Bromley CCGs since 1 April 2018. His total salary for the year for these NHS roles was £140-145k, expenses £200, and pension related benefits £(5-10)k.
Corresponding entries are shown in the other CCG accounts.
***Usman Niazi was appointed as the South East London Chief Financial Officer and he took up post in February 2019. His total salary for the part of the year for these NHS roles was £1520k, expenses £nil, and pension related benefits £nil. Corresponding entries are shown in the other CCG accounts.
****David Maloney has been Director of Finance for Greenwich and Lewisham CCG’s all period. His total salary for the year for these NHS roles was £125-130k, and pension related benefits
£5-7.5k. Corresponding entries are shown in the other CCG accounts.
***** Note: Dr M Roland held the position of Chair of the Governing Body for Lewisham CCG until 31st August 2018. He also held the position of Chair of the London
Clinical Commissioning Committee during this period. His total salary for the period for these NHS roles was £35-40k
****** Note: Dr Faruk Majid held the position of Chair of the Governing Body for Lewisham CCG from 1st September 2018 (previously Senior Clinical Director from 1st April 2018).
******* Doctor David Abraham held the position as Senior Clinical Director until 31st August 2018.
Note: Only the Lewisham proportion of Andrew Bland, Usman Niazi & David Maloney's salaries and other costs are included in the Lewisham Remuneration report table above.
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2017/18
Name and Title

(a)
Salary & Fees
(bands of £5,000)

(b)
Expense Payments
(taxable)
to nearest £100*

(c)
Performance pay and
bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
£000

(d)
Long term
performance pay and
bonuses (bands of
£5,000)
£000

(e)
All pension-related
benefits
(bands of £2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of £5,000)

£000

£00

£000

£000

Mr Martin Wilkinson, Chief Officer

115 - 120

11

32.5 - 35

150 - 155

Mr Tony Read, Chief Financial Officer

105 - 110

0

25 - 27.5

135 - 140

Ms Diana Braithwaite, Director of Commissioning & Primary
Care

105 - 110

0

42.5 - 45

145 - 150

Ms Susanna Masters, Corporate Director

65 - 70

0

25 - 27.5

90 - 95

Ms Alison Browne, Director of Nursing and Quality /
Registered Nurse Member

85 - 90

0

17.5 - 20

105 - 110

Dr Marc Rowland, Chair of the Governing Body**

60 - 65

0

60 - 65

Dr David Abraham, Senior Clinical Director

55 - 60

0

55 - 60

Dr Faruk Majid, Senior Clinical Director / Clinical Director

45 - 50

0

45 - 50

Dr Seb Kalwij, Clinical Director

40 - 45

0

40 - 45

Dr Charles Gostling, Clinical Director

40 - 45

0

40 - 45

Dr Angelika Razzaque, Clinical Director

40 - 45

0

40 - 45

Dr Jacqueline McLeod, Clinical Director / Senior Clinical
Director

50 - 55

0

50 - 55

Mr Ray Warburton, Lay Member

15 - 20

0

15 - 20

0-5

0

0-5

10 - 15

0

10 - 15

Dr Mark Hamilton, Secondary Care Doctor Member
Ms Anne Hooper, Lay Member
Dr Esther Appleby, Clinical Director

0-5

0

0-5

Ms Shelagh Kirkland, Lay Member

10 - 15

0

10 - 15

Prof Simon Mackenzie, Secondary Care Doctor Member

10 - 15

0

10 - 15

* Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100. These include reimbursement of travel and course/training costs.
** Note: Mr M Roland held the position of Chair of the Governing Body for Lewisham CCG throughout the period. He also held the position of Chair fo the
London Clinical Commissioning Committee. His total salary for the 12 month period for these NHS roles was £95-100k
Mr Andrew Bland became Accountable Officer for the CCG with effect from 1st April 2018. He did not receive any remuneration from Lewisham CCG for 2017/18.
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2019 (audited)

Name and title

Mr Andrew Bland,
Accountable Officer
Mr Usman Niazi,
Chief Financial Officer
Mr Martin Wilkinson,
Managing Director
Ms Diana Braithwaite,
Director of Commissioning
& Primary Care
Mr David Maloney
Director of Finance

(a)
(b)
Real increase in
Real increase in
pension at pension age pension lump sum at
(bands of £2,500)
pension age
(bands of £2,500)
£000

£000

0-2.5

0

(c)
(d)
Total accrued pension Lump sum at pension
at pension age at 31 age related to accrued
March 2019 (bands of pension at 31 March
£5,000)
2019
(bands of £5,000)
£000
£000
30-35

65-70

(e)
Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value
at 1 April 2018

(f)
Real increase in Cash
Equivalent Transfer
Value

(g)
Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value at 31
March 2019

(h)
Employers
contribution to
stakeholder pension

£000

£000

£000

£00

374

66

444

0

0-2.5

0

20-25

0

127

8

199

0

0 - 2.5

0

35 - 40

90 - 95

576

73

682

0

2.5 - 5

0 - 2.5

20 - 25

50 - 55

333

67

425

0

0 - 2.5

0

40 - 45

95 - 100

669

97

786

0

Mr Andrew Bland held the position of Accountable Officer for Southwark, Bexley, Bromley, Lewisham and Greenwich CCGs throughout the period. As the pension disclosure represents an actuarial valuation of his future
benefits these have not been allocated across CCGs but are included in full in each set of financial statements where he has received remuneration.
Mr Usman Niazi held the position of Chief Financial Officer for Southwark, Bexley, Bromley Lewisham and Greenwich CCGs from February 2019. As the pension disclosure represents an actuarial valuation of his future
benefits these have not been allocated across CCGs but are included in full in each set of financial statements where he has received remuneration.
Mr David Maloney held the position of Director of Finance for Lewisham and Greenwich CCGs throughout the period. As the pension disclosure represents an actuarial valuation of his future benefits these have not been
allocated across CCGs but are included in full in each set of financial statements where he has received remuneration.

Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
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Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement).

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office
No payment for compensation on early retirement or for loss of office were made
during the financial year 2018/19.
Payments to past members
No awards were made to past senior managers during the financial year 2018/19.
Pay multiples
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration
of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member, in Lewisham CCG in
the financial year 2018/19 was £122,500 paid to Diana Braithwaite (2017/18: £114,300
paid to Martin Wilkinson). This change reflected an in lieu of annual leave payment
made in 2018/19. The total payment made was 2.56 times (2017/18: 2.69) the median
remuneration of the workforce, which was £47,798 (2017/18: £42,535).
In 2018/19, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
director/Member. Remuneration on a full time equivalent basis ranged from £17,000
to £200,100 (2017/18: £17,000 to £200,100)
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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Staff Report
Number of senior managers (audited)
In 2018/19 NHS Lewisham CCG employed on average 68 staff; 46 female and 22
male.
The numbers of staff who were a VSM (Very Senior Manager) grade was 4 male. Of
these only 1 was employed on a full time basis by the CCG, with the remaining 3
employed by other CCG’s in South East London but fulfilling shared responsibilities
across South East London CCGs. The remuneration of these three senior managers
relating to their time spent on Lewisham CCG matters is reflected in the Remuneration
report for Lewisham CCG.
The Governing Body was made up of 7 women and 12 men.
The Clinical Director’s Committee (Membership Body) was made up of 4 women and
6 men.

Average number of CCG
employed staff
Female
Male
Of the above: Number of
whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

2018-2019
Permanently
Total
employed
Other
Total
Number
Number
Number Number

2017-2018
Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

68

62

6

81

64

17

46
22

42
20

4
2

52
29

42
22

10
7

0

0

0

0

0

0
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Employee Benefits (subject to audit)
The following tables show the values of employee benefits for 2018/19 and 2017/18.
2018/19

Salaries and Wages
Social Security Costs
Employer
contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Other Pension Costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment beneifts
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of employee
beneifts (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits
including capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding
capitalised costs

2017/18

Salaries and Wages
Social Security Costs
Employer
contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Other Pension Costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment beneifts
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of employee
beneifts (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits
including capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding
capitalised costs

Total

Admin

Permanent
Employees
Total
£000
£000
4,387
3,788
420
420

Other
£000

600
0

Programme

Permanent
Employees
Total
£000
£000
2,928
2,618
293
293

Other
£000
310
0

Permanent
Employees
Total
£000
£000
1,459
1,170
127
127

Other
£000
289
0

422

422

0

320

320

0

102

102

0

0
6
0
0
5,235

0
6
0
0
4,635

0
0
0
0
600

0
6
0
0
3,546

0
6
0
0
3,236

0
0
0
0
310

0
0
0
0
1,688

0
0
0
0
1,399

0
0
0
0
289

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5,235

4,635

600

3,546

3,236

310

1,688

1,399

289

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5,235

4,635

600

3,546

3,236

310

1,688

1,399

289

Total

Admin

Permanent
Employees
Total
£000
£000
5,039
3,628
407
407

Other
£000
1,411
0

Programme

Permanent
Employees
Total
£000
£000
3,056
2,559
288
288

Other
£000

497
0

Permanent
Employees
Total
£000
£000
1,983
1,069
119
119

Other
£000

914
0

325

325

0

240

240

0

85

85

0

0
5
0
0
5,775

0
5
0
0
4,364

0
0
0
0
1,411

0
5
0
0
3,588

0
5
0
0
3,091

0
0
0
0
497

0
0
0
0
2,186

0
0
0
0
1,273

0
0
0
0
914

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5,775

4,364

1,411

3,588

3,091

497

2,186

1,273

914

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5,775

4,364

1,411

3,588

3,091

497

2,186

1,273

914
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Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2018/19

2017/18

Number

Number

Total Days Lost

507

242

Total Staff Years

67

63

Average working Days Lost

7.6

3.8

The source of the table above is NHS Digital – Sickness Absence Publication for
2017/18 and HR sickness records for 2018/19.
Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme. The CCG did not
have any ill health retirements in 2018/19.
The CCG's Sickness Absence Policy confirms the importance of promoting and
supporting the health and welfare of its employees whilst at the same time being
committed to achieving excellence in terms of attendance at work. An employee
assistance scheme is provided to support staff. Our policies also confirm that the CCG
will ensure that it abides by its duty of care to all staff, and other such legislation in
order to provide a supportive environment within which sickness absence levels can
be reduced. This can be achieved by the implementation of positive procedures and
guidelines. A consistent and pro-active approach to improving attendance is being
applied in the following areas:
•

monitoring the attendance of staff on a regular basis

•

positively reinforcing the good attendance of staff

•

showing an understanding towards those who need to be absent from work on
a long term basis through sickness; and dealing fairly and consistently with staff
whose attendance is of concern

•

ensuring that managers are supported, trained and encouraged to manage
sickness absence competently, fairly and consistently in line with good practice.
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Sickness absence rates are affected, among other things, by leadership and the
working culture. At the CCG, there is an inclusive and supportive leadership style and
culture. Our average monthly sickness absence rate was 3.37% (April 2018 – March
2019). The CCG national average is 3.1%. Sickness absence is recorded, verified,
monitored and reported as part of the monthly HR Workforce Report to the CCG
management team.

Sickness absence data reported includes sickness absence

reason, days lost, full time equivalent days lost, and number of episodes. It also
categorises the absence by short and long term. The HR Business Partner works
closely with managers to ensure that sickness absence cases are managed in a timely
way and in accordance with the CCG's Sickness Absence Policy.

Staff policies
Disabled Persons
Disabled employees are protected under the "protected characteristics" of the Equality
Act 2010. The CCG's Equality & Diversity Policy confirms that the CCG will make
reasonable adjustments to working conditions or to the physical working environment
where that would help overcome the practical effects of a disability. The policy also
confirms that the CCG will provide support to enable disabled members of staff to
participate fully in meetings and training courses. Reasonable adjustments will be
taken into account and full use will be made of the advice and assistance available via
current government employment initiatives when consideration is being made of a
disabled applicant’s suitability for a vacant post. The CCG's Sickness Absence Policy
confirms that every effort will be made to facilitate an employee’s return to work
including making reasonable adjustments under the Disability Discrimination Act 1995
which may include applications for grants where appropriate and taking advice from
Disability Advisers in the Employment Service.

Other Employee Matters
The CCG receives specialist employee relations advice and support from the North
East London Commissioning Support Unit (NELCSU). The service includes
reviewing and updating employment policies, taking into account legislative and best
practice changes, and providing advice to managers and to staff as required. The
CCG has a Staff Engagement Group (SEG) made up of representatives from the
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different teams in the organisation, which during 2018/19 has reviewed the outcomes
of the annual staff survey and provided input to new or revised policies. The SEG
reviewed the requirements of the London Healthy Workplace Charter which includes
corporate support for wellbeing, attendance management, health and safety, mental
health and wellbeing physical activity, and healthy eating.
During 2018/19 the CCG consulted with staff concerning the relocation of the
organisations’ headquarters from Cantilever House in Lee Green to Laurence House
in Catford.

Expenditure on consultancy
During 2018/19 the CCG expenditure on consultancy was £370k (2017/18 £655k).

Off-payroll engagements
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day
and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019

0

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

0

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

0

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

The CCG has no off-payroll engagements longer than six months at 31st March
2019.
Table 2: New off-payroll engagements
Table 2 shows the CCGs off-payroll engagements, that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day. All
of these engagements ended in the first half of 2018/19. There have been no new
payroll engagements commencing in 2018/19 for longer than six months:
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Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April
2018 and 31 March 2019

4

Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35

4

Number assessed as not caught by IR35

0

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the departmental
payroll

0

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes during the year

0

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the consistency review

0

Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2018 and 31 March 2019.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the

0

financial year (1)
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

All of the individuals declared in Table 3 are on the payroll.
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (subject to audit)
Table 1: Exit Packages [To be completed in accordance with DHSC GAM 2018/19 Para 3.57 (i), with reference to Chapter 3 Annex
3 – Exit Packages and Severance Payments].
Exit package
cost band
(inc. any
special
payment
element

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY
Less than
£10,000
£10,000 £25,000
£25,001 £50,000
£50,001 £100,000
£100,001 £150,000
£150,001 –
£200,000
>£200,000
TOTALS

1

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

£s

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Cost of other
departures
agreed

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

24,947

Total
number of
exit
packages

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

1

Total cost of
exit packages

£s

Number of
departures
where
special
payments
have been
made
WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

Cost of special
payment element
included in exit
packages

£s

24,947

Agrees to A
below

Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of Agenda for Change. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in
the year of departure. Where Lewisham CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by Lewisham CCG and not by the NHS Pensions
Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the table.
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Table 2: Analysis of Other Departures
There were no other departures in 2018/19.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Lewisham CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and
Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special
payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the following
Financial Statements. An audit certificate and report is also included at pages 138 to
140 of the Financial Statements.
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Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Data entered below will be used throughout the workbook:

Entity name:
This year
Last year
This year ended
Last year ended
This year commencing:
Last year commencing:

NHS Lewisham CCG
2018-19
2017-18
31-March-2019
31-March-2018
01-April-2018
01-April-2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS
LEWISHAM CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (“the CCG”)
for the year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity and Statement of Cash Flows,
and the related notes, including the accounting policies in note one.
In our opinion the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of its income and
expenditure for the year then ended; and

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as being relevant to CCGs in
England and included in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2018/19.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities
under, and are independent of the CCG in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC
Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate
basis for our opinion.
Going concern
The Accountable Officer has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they have
not been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer
of its services to another public sector entity. They have also concluded that there are no material
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at
least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).
We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting
is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the
use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In our
evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions we considered the inherent risks to the CCG’s
operations, including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how these risks might affect the CCG’s financial
resources, or ability to continue its operations over the going concern period. We have nothing to report
in these respects.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the CCG will
continue in operation.
Other information in the Annual Report
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together
with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information. In our opinion the other information included in the Annual Report
for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements.
Annual Governance Statement
We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with guidance
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board. We have nothing to report in this respect.
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Remuneration and Staff Report
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018/19
Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 83, the Accountable Officer is responsible for:
the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view; such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the CCGs ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the
CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

is

provided

on

the

FRC’s

website

at

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS
Opinion on regularity
We are required to report on the following matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
In our opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them.
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if the CCG has not made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Qualified conclusion
Subject to the matters outlined in the basis for qualified conclusion paragraph below we are satisfied that
in all significant respects NHS Lewisham CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019.
Basis for qualified conclusion
In considering the CCG’s arrangements for informed decision making, we considered that the CCG was
placed under legal directions by NHS England on 1 September 2017. The legal directions required the
CCG to cease to exercise its acute commissioning functions including the contract with Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust. During the period of legal directions, acute commissioning functions were to be
exercised by NHS Southwark Clinical Commissioning Group on behalf of NHS Lewisham Clinical
Commissioning Group. The legal directions were removed by NHS England on 5 March 2019.
The CCG has made progress in relation to the areas identified in the Legal Directions. It has complied
with the terms of the Legal Directions to produce an Urgent & Emergency Care Recovery Plan in respect
of the services set out in the contract with Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust, together with
improvements in both contract management arrangements and in the working relationship with the Trust.
Due to the imposition of the Legal Directions for eleven months of the year ended 31 March 2019 and the
Urgent & Emergency Care Recovery Plan having not yet been fully delivered, we do not have sufficient
assurance of the CCG’s arrangements for informed decision making in respect of arrangements for Urgent
and Emergency Care.
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Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 83, the Accountable Officer is responsible for
ensuring that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically. We are required
under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has
made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCGs arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) in November 2017, as to
whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. We planned our
work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice and related guidance. Based on our risk assessment,
we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
Statutory reporting matters
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and Auditor
General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to report to you if:
•

we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or
has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or

•

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;
or

•

we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR RESPONSIBILITIES
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Lewisham CCG, as a body, in
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Members of
the Governing Body, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Lewisham CCG in accordance with
the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Richard Hewes
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London E14 5GL
24 May 2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2019

Note

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(3,137)
0
(3,137)

(5,693)
(64)
(5,757)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

5,235
483,957
4
11
162
489,369

5,774
470,459
0
(250)
127
476,110

486,232

470,353

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year
The notes on pages 145 to 165 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2019

Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

2018-19

2017-18

£'000

£'000

8

151
151

50
50

9
10

9,632
5

5,678
91

Total current assets

9,637

5,769

Total assets

9,788

5,819

(40,822)
(57)
(40,879)

(31,997)
(46)
(32,043)

Assets less Liabilities

(31,091)

(26,224)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(31,091)
(31,091)

(26,224)
(26,224)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

11
12

The notes on pages 145 to 165 form part of this
statement.
The financial statements on pages 141 to 144 were approved by the Audit Committee on 21st May
2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Chief Accountable Officer
Andrew Bland
24th May 2019

Chief Finance Officer
Usman Niazi
24th May 2019
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31 March 2019
General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31
March 2018
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’
equity for 2018-19
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

(26,224)

(26,224)

(26,224)

(26,224)

(8)
(486,232)

(8)
(486,232)

(486,240)

(486,240)

481,373
(31,091)

481,373
(31,091)

General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
(23,782)

(23,782)

(23,782)

(23,782)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’
equity for 2017-18
Net operating costs for the financial year

(470,353)

(470,353)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018

(470,353)
467,911
(26,224)

(470,353)
467,911
(26,224)

Balance at 01 April 2017
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31
March 2018

The notes on pages 145 to 165 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2019
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting
standards
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5

9
11
12
12

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

10

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End
of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 145 to 165 form part of this statement.
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2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

(486,232)
4

(470,353)
0

(8)
(3,953)
8,775
0
11
(481,403)

0
(1,225)
3,687
(26)
(250)
(468,167)

(55)
(55)

(50)
(50)

(481,458)

(468,217)

481,372
481,372

467,911
467,911

(86)

(306)

91

397

5
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social
Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting
policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by
HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning
group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in
published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use
the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
During the year the Governing Body and its sub-committees has considered and approved a number of documents that assume that services will be provided on an on-going basis:

- South East London Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) updates
- Agreement of Lewisham wide Commissioning Strategy
- Commissioning Intentions
- Continuation of full delegation from NHS England for the co-commissioning of primary care services.
- New governance arrangements for CCG and co-commissioning scrutiny and decision making
- Changes to the CCG's Constitution
- Approval of shared executive management and leadership arrangements across 5 CCGs and the SEL STP
- The CCG has agreed main service contracts for 2019/20 and has a cash plan for 2019/20 based on the CCG's notified Annual Cash Drawdown Requirement
1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and
financial liabilities.

1.3

Joint Operations
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Lewisham Borough Council in accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled for
the Better Care Fund and note 16.1 to the accounts provides details of the income and expenditure.
The pool is hosted by Lewisham Borough Council. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget,
identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement

1.4

Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note 15 and are reported in line with management information used within the clinical commissioning group.

1.5

Revenue
The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard, applying the Standard retrospectively recognising the cumulative effects at the date of initial application.
In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or
less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to
consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the
date of initial application.
The main source of revenue is from non patient care services to other bodies referenced in note 3 to the accounts.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction
price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for
Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training
funded.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
The clinical commissioning group commissions services jointly with other CCGs and Trusts. Where the clinical commissioning group holds the contract and incurs expenditure on behalf of another party, a
recharge is made to the joint commissioning partner and the expenditure is accounted for 'net' of revenue.

1.6
1.6.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses
earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other
bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as
equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time
the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.8

Grants Payable
Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the clinical commissioning group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the
grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis.

1.9
1.9.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase
dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful
economic lives.

1.9.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are
measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing
use are determined as follows:
·
Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
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Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as
expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or
low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to
the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.9.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the
expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.10
1.10.1

Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the clinical commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other
legal rights. They are recognised only:
·
When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning group;
·
Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
·
Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of
hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
·
The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
·
The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
·
The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
·
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
·
The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
·
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

1.10.2

Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are intially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria
above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost or the
value in use where the asset is income generating . Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances.
Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment.

1.10.3

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful
lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to
obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual
values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the
reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of
the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.11

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.11.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching
liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance
of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straightline basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.

1.12

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of
acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash
management.

1.13

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of positive 0.29% (2017-18: positive 0.10%) in real terms. All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates
according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position date:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.76% (2017-18: negative 2.42% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 1.14% (2017-18: negative 1.85% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position
date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.
All 2018-19 percentages are expressed in nominal terms with 2017-18 being the last financial year that HM Treasury provided real general provision discount rates.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out
the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the
restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.14

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The
contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning group.

1.15

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an
annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are
charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15.1

Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
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1.16

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.

1.17

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at amortised cost;
·
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.17.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal
and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any
impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.17.2

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets
and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

1.17.3

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and
financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

1.17.4

Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease
receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer
Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments
against these bodies. Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not recognise allowances for
stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.18

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade
payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.19

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to
the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.20

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.
They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical
commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.21

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
NHS Lewisham CCG did not make any material accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions.

1.22

Sources of estimation uncertainty
NHS Lewisham CCG had no material key sources of estimation uncertainty.

1.23

Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the
loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value.

1.24

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for
implementation in 2019-20, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2018-19, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract income
Total Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income
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2018-19
Total

2017-18
Total

£'000

£'000

0
3,123
14
3,137

41
5,652
0
5,693

0
0

64
64

3,137

5,756
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3 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000
Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

Other Contract
income
£'000

2,242
881
3,123

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000
Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

3,123
0
3,123
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0
14
14

Other Contract
income
£'000
14
0
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1 Employee benefits

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

2018-19

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,788
420
421
6
4,635

600
0
0
0
600

4,388
420
421
6
5,235

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
4,635

0
600

0
5,235

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
4,635

0
600

0
5,235

4.1 Employee benefits

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

2017-18

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,628
407
325
5
4,364

1,411
0
0
0
1,411

5,039
407
325
5
5,775

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
4,364

0
1,411

0
5,775

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
4,364

0
1,411

0
5,775
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2018-19
Permanently
employed
Number
Total

2017-18

Other
Number

62

Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number
6

68

Other
Number

64

Total
Number
17

81

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
Total

2018-19
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
0
0
1
24,947
0
0
1
24,947

2018-19
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0

2018-19
Total

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
Total

2017-18
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

2017-18
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2017-18
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Number
0
0
0
0

£
0
1
0
1

0
24,947
0
24,947

2017-18
Total
Number

£
0
0
0
0

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval*
Total

2018-19
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous
period.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Agenda for Change pay scheme.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
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4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes
can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of
the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the
reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for
the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as
at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March 2018 with summary global member and accounting data. In
undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM
Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension
Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The
Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme
Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and
consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions are published by HM
Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed off by the scheme actuary. This will
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are
provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of
pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary
of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
For 2018-19, employers’ contributions of £353,669 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2017-18: £324,551) were payable to the NHS Pension
Scheme at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on
HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government
website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.
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5. Operating expenses
2018-19
Total
£'000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from Other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Total Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Provisions
Total Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Expected credit loss on receivables
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2017-18
Total
£'000

4,505
160,993
188,279
45
43,352
858
35,884
43,610
6
3,873
370
906
4
939
56

3,310
154,142
185,503
1
40,693
1,210
36,968
42,489
0
3,394
655
1,157
3
400
52

10
244
0
23
483,957

0
340
32
109
470,459

4
4

0
0

11
11

(250)
(250)

141
21
162

127
0
127

484,134

470,335

In accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation
Agreements) Regulations 2008 , the CCG is required to disclose the limit of its auditors liability. The contract signed
states that the liability of KPMG, its members, partners and staff (whether in contract, negligence, or otherwise) shall in
no circumstances exceed £2,000k, aside from where the liability cannot be limited by law. This is in aggregate in respect
of all services. The audit fee disclosed above excluding irrecoverable VAT is £45,065.

The CCG will be required to obtain assurance from the external auditors over reported compliance with the
requirements of the Mental Health Investment Standard. The CCG has received £10,000 of resource allocation in
relation to this work. The final fee is not yet confirmed.
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

8,177
8,039
98.31%

88,686
87,417
98.57%

8,588
8,380
97.58%

88,266
85,596
96.98%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,602
3,457
95.97%

357,307
356,508
99.78%

3,375
3,276
97.07%

347,185
345,661
99.56%
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

184
0
0
184

18
0
0
18

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Buildings
£'000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

72
6
0
78

Buildings
£'000

202
0
0
202

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
18
0
0
18

125
0
0
125

Buildings
£'000
90
6
0
96

125
0
0
125

2017-18
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
18
0
0
18

143
0
0
143

2017-18
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
18
0
0
18

Payments recognised as an expense in 2018/19 include building rent in respect of three quarters of a year's occupancy of Cantilever House.
Future minimum lease payments for buildings do not include any rental relating to Cantilever House.
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8. Property, plant and equipment

2018-19
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018
Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019

Information
technology
£'000
50

Total
£'000
50

105
155

105
155

0
4
4

0
4
4

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019

151

151

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2019

151
151

151
151

151
151

151
151

Depreciation 01 April 2018
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2019

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2019

9.1 Economic lives
Minimum Life
(years)

Information technology

3
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Maximum Life
(years)

3
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9.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2018-19
£'000

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

Current
2017-18
£'000

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

2,329
5,612
1,296
180
138
(29)
98
8
9,632

Total current and non current

9,632

5,678

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

0

0

-

1,257
2,234
1,623
313
53
189
10
0
5,678

-

9.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2018-19
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
52
46
70
168

2018-19
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
206
86
134
426

2017-18
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
34
45
5
84

2017-18
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
68
49
117

9.3 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial assets at 1 April 2018
Cash and cash
equivalents

Trade and other
receivables NHSE bodies
£000s

£000s

Trade and other
receivables external
£000s

Total

£000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

91
91

2,879
2,879

502
502

3,472
3,472

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

91
91

2,879
2,879

494
494

3,464
3,464

Changes due to change in measurement attribute
Change in carrying amount

0
0

0
0

8
8

8
8

9.4 Movement in loss allowances due to application of IFRS 9
Cash and cash
equivalents

Trade and other
receivables NHSE bodies
£000s

£000s

Trade and other
receivables external
£000s

Total

£000s

Loss allowance under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

0
0

0
0

(8)
(8)

(8)
(8)

Change in loss allowance arising from application of IFRS 9

0

0

(8)

(8)
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10 Cash and cash equivalents
2018-19
£'000
91
(86)
5

2017-18
£'000
397
(306)
91

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

5
5

91
91

Balance at 31 March 2019

5

91

Balance at 01 April 2018
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2019

158

NHS Lewisham CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Current
2018-19
£'000

11 Trade and other payables

Current
2017-18
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

7,619
6,273
2,761
50
20,353
65
63
3,638
40,822

4,634
5,436
2,785
0
18,390
26
68
658
31,997

Total current and non-current

40,822

31,997

Other payables include £339k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2019.

11.1 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial liabilities at 1 April 2018
Trade and
other payables
- NHSE bodies

£000s

Trade and
other
payables external

Total

£000s

£000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Liabilities held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

10,070
10,070

21,832
21,832

31,902
31,902

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost

10,070

21,832

31,902

Total at 1st April 2018

10,070

21,832

31,902

0
0

0
0

0
0

Changes due to change in measurement attribute
Change in carrying amount
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12 Provisions

Continuing care
Total

Balance at 01 April 2018
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2019
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2019
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Current
2018-19
£'000
57
57

Current
2017-18
£'000
46
46

Continuing Care
£'000

Total
£'000

46

46

57
0
(46)
57

57
0
(46)
57

57
57

57
57
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13 Commitments
13.1 Capital commitments
The CCG had no capital commitments at 31st March 2019.
14 Financial instruments
14.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in
creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of
financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk
than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning
group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its
activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS
clinical commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is
subject to review by the NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
14.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS
clinical commissioning group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
14.1.2 Interest rate risk

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS
England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the
National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest
rate fluctuations.
14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in
receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
14.1.4 Liquidity risk

NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the
need arises. The NHS clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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14 Financial instruments cont'd
14.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2019

Total
2018-19
£'000

2,199
268
1,296
8
5
3,776

2,199
268
1,296
8
5
3,776

14.3 Financial liabilities

Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2019

2,018
22,646
12,391
3,637
40,692

Total
2018-19
£'000
2,018
22,646
12,391
3,637
40,692

15 Operating segments
The clinical commissioning group and consolidated group consider they have only one segment commissioning of healthcare
services.
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16 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
The CCG has one joint operation interest in respect of the Better Care Fund pooled budget.

16.1 Interests in joint operations

Name of arrangement

Better Care Fund

Parties to the
arrangement

London Borough
of Lewisham

Description of
principal
activities

Pooled Budgets

Amounts recognised in
Entities books ONLY

Amounts recognised in
Entities books ONLY

2018-19

2017-18

Income

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

20,915
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20,525

(20,522)
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17 Related party transactions

The transactions in relation to interests declared by Governing Body members (excluding transactions with GP practices, Department of Health and Social Care bodies and other
government departments)
2018-19
2017-18
Receipts Amounts Amounts
Receipts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Payments
from
owed to
Payments to Related Related Related
to Related Related
Related
Party
Party
Party
Related Party Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£'000

SELDOC LTD

1,043

0

183

0

1,130

0

201

0

ONE HEALTH LEWISHAM LTD

2,413

0

90

0

3,377

0

1,016

0

LONDONWIDE LMCs
ST GEORGES UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
TOTAL

218
408
4,082

0
0
0

0
20
293

0
0
0

145
851
5,503

0
0
0

0
185
1,402

0
0
0

The transactions with GP practices where a) GP practices are members of the CCG, b) GP practices employed the Chair and/or Clinical Directors of the CCG Governing Body as partners
or salaried GPs or c) where GP practices employed GPs or Non GP Partners who have contributed to the work of the CCG.

AMERSHAM VALE TRAINING PRACTICE
BARING ROAD MEDICAL CENTRE
BELLINGHAM GREEN SURGERY
BELMONT HILL SURGERY
BROCKLEY SURGERY
CHINBROOK SURGERY
CLIFTON RISE PRACTICE
DEPTFORD MEDICAL CENTRE
DEPTFORD SURGERY
DOWNHAM FAMILY MEDICAL PRACTICE
DR BR JACOBS
DR JAINS PRACTICE
GROVE MEDICAL CENTRE LONDON
HILLY FIELDS MEDICAL CENTRE
HONOR OAK GROUP PRACTICE
JENNER PRACTICE
LEES ROAD SURGERY
LEWISHAM GP LED HEALTH CENTRE
LEWISHAM MEDICAL CENTRE
MORDEN HILL SURGERY
MORNINGTON SURGERY
NEW CROSS HEALTH CENTRE
NIGHTINGALE SURGERY LONDON
OAKVIEW FAMILY PRACTICE
PARKVIEW SURGERY LONDON
PENROSE LEE SURGERY
QUEENS ROAD PARTNERSHIP
RUSHEY GREEN GROUP PRACTICE
SOUTH LEWISHAM GROUP PRACTICE
ST JOHNS MEDICAL CENTRE
SYDENHAM GREEN GROUP PRACTICE
SYDENHAM SURGERY
TORRIDON ROAD MEDICAL PRACTICE
VALE MEDICAL CENTRE
VESTA ROAD SURGERY
WALDRON HEALTH CENTRE
WELLS PARK PRACTICE
WOODLANDS HEALTH CENTRE LONDON
WOOLSTONE MEDICAL CENTRE
TOTAL

Payments to
Related Party
£'000
1,563
450
885
800
622
1,186
778
398
580
786
901
631
1,263
1,549
1,105
1,712
1,337
8
1,228
1,012
507
778
695
597
631
741
1,182
2,184
1,953
1,849
1,678
475
1,375
1,422
682
589
1,354
1,062
989
39,537

2018-19
Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
0
7
0
0
23
0
0
55
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
176
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
22
0
0
9
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
196
0
0
0
0
0
23
0
0
47
0
0
56
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
87
0
0
0
0
0
251
0
0
0
0
0
3
0
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
79
0
0
26
0
0
10
0
0
79
0
0
27
0
0
4
0
0
1
0
0
38
0
0
0
0
0
196
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
26
0
0
1,445
0

Payments
to Related
Party
£'000
983
950
904
810
618
1,285
881
387
510
686
807
567
1,146
1,530
998
1,620
1,362
496
1,188
1,115
531
614
687
567
562
761
1,209
1,708
1,897
1,830
1,533
467
1,336
1,430
733
623
1,327
1,007
1,024
38,689

2017-18
Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Related
Related
Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
0
260
0
0
0
38
0
30
0
0
5
0
0
35
0
0
92
0
0
0
106
0
13
0
0
7
0
0
123
0
0
15
0
0
12
0
0
35
0
0
7
0
0
0
90
0
63
0
0
33
0
0
373
0
0
5
0
0
0
0
0
10
0
0
35
0
0
9
0
0
16
0
0
19
0
0
20
0
0
92
0
0
90
0
0
114
0
17
0
0
0
179
0
0
9
0
0
8
0
0
6
0
0
0
66
0
222
0
0
37
0
0
34
0
0
13
0
0
2,129
210

Notes:1 The payments above are not made to the individuals themselves but to their associated General Practice for clinical services commissioned by the CCG. These payments to the GP Practices
exclude funding for prescribing.

Material transactions with Department of Health and Social Care group organisations

GUYS & ST THOMAS HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
KING`S COLLEGE HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
LEWISHAM & GREENWICH NHS TRUST
LONDON AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS TRUST
NHS BEXLEY CCG
NHS BROMLEY CCG
NHS ENGLAND
NHS GREENWICH CCG
NHS LAMBETH CCG
NHS SOUTHWARK CCG
SOUTH LONDON AND MAUDSLEY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
TOTAL
LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM

Payments to
Related Party
£'000
46,449
38,718
168,842
12,494
544
17
173
549
182
350
65,644
333,962
28,885

2018-19
Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
0
0
21
0
2,197
0
64
0
974
0
0
635
31
41
0
40
9
0
979
122
0
67
518
0
395
11
0
517
350
0
116
196
0
2,209
3,444
1,630
1,532

8,920

0

Payments
to Related
Party
£'000
43,627
36,181
168,201
11,450
0
97
39
216
72
4
64,892
324,780
25,526

2017-18
Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Related
Related
Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
460
115
0
0
566
0
0
3,002
0
0
351
0
6
0
0
28
14
0
1,592
0
0
31
138
0
334
0
0
2,060
0
0
116
209
0
4,627
4,395
0
934

Notes:1 A financial Risk-Share agreement is in place across the six CCGs in south east London. It was agreed through the governance of each CCG that the Risk-Share agreement be enacted in
2018/19. The final revenue resource limit values included in the 2018/19 annual accounts of each CCG reflect the outcome of the Risk-Share agreement.
2 In 2018/19 the CCG also made payments to NHS Property Services Ltd, HM Revenue and Customs, NHS Business Services Authority and NHS Resolution.
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18 Events after the end of the reporting period
The CCG did not have any events after the reporting period ending 31st March 2019.
19 Losses and special payments
The CCG did not incur any losses or make any special payments in 2018-19 (2017-18: £NIL)
20 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
2018-19
Target
489,805
105
486,563
0
0
6,744

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

The CCG was underspent against its overall income resource for 2018/19 by £331k.
The CCG was underspent against its running costs target by £645k.
21 Effect of application of IFRS 15 on current year closing balances
The impact of IFRS 15 is not material and hence no disclosure is made.
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2018-19
Performance
489,474
105
486,232
0
0
6,099

2017-18
Target
477,140
50
471,333
0
0
6,651

2017-18
Performance
476,160
50
470,353
0
0
6,260

